Synthesis and Characterization of Phase Change Materials for Thermal Energy Storage Applications



By

Muniha Abdul Qadir

(Registration No: 00000365379)

Department of Thermal Energy Engineering

U.S Pakistan Center for Advanced Studies in Energy

National University of Sciences & Technology (NUST)

Islamabad, Pakistan

(2025)

Synthesis and Characterization of Phase Change Materials for Thermal Energy Storage Applications



By

Muniha Abdul Qadir

(Registration No: 00000365379)

A thesis submitted to the National University of Sciences and Technology, Islamabad,

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science in

Thermal Energy Engineering

Supervisor: Dr. Majid Ali

Co Supervisor: Dr. Sana Yaqoob

U.S Pakistan Center for Advanced Studies in Energy

National University of Sciences & Technology (NUST)

Islamabad, Pakistan

(2025)

THESIS ACCEPTANCE CERTIFICATE

Certified that final copy of MS/MPhil thesis written by Ms. Muniha Abdul Qadir (Registration No. 365379), of U.S Pakistan Center for Advanced Studies in Energy has been vetted by undersigned, found complete in all respects as per NUST Statues/Regulations, is within the similarity indices limit and is accepted as partial fulfillment for the award of MS/MPhil degree. It is further certified that necessary amendments as pointed out by GEC members of the scholar have also been incorporated in the said thesis.

| | A | Anid | , |
|-----------------|--------------|---------------|------------|
| Signature: _ | | "A | |
| Name of Supervi | sor: Dr. M | land Ali | |
| Date: | 08/02/20 | 2.5 | |
| Signature (HoD) |): | g- | |
| Date: 13-01 | -2025 | | |
| | | N | . / |
| Signature (Dean | /Principal): | _ dt | / |
| Date: | | \mathcal{A} | 14/01/2025 |

National University of Sciences & Technology MASTER'S THESIS WORK

We here by recommend that the dissertation prepared under our supervision by Muniha Abdul Qadir (365379)

Titled: Synthesis and Characterization of Phase Change Materials for Thermal Energy Storage Applications

be accepted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the award of <u>MS Thermal</u> Energy Engineering degree with <u>A</u> grade

Examination Committee Members

Signature

Signature

1. Name Dr. Adeel Wagas

2 Name Dr. Ghulam Ali --

Supervisor Dr Majid Aa x

Signature Date: 201 Signature: 20/12/2024 Date:

Co-supervisor Dr. Sana Yaqub /

Dr. Asif Hussain Khoja Head of Department

Signature

13-01-2025 Date

COUNTERSIGNED

cipal

Date 14/01/2025

US-Pakistan Center for Advanced Studies in Energy (USPCASE)

CERTIFICATE OF APPROVAL

This is to certify that the research work presented in this thesis, entitled "Synthesis and characterization of Phase Change Materials for Thermal Energy Storage" was conducted by Ms. Muniha Abdul Qadir under the supervision of Dr. Majid Ali.

No part of this thesis has been submitted anywhere else for any other degree. This thesis is submitted to the US Pakistan Center for advanced studies in Energy (USPCAS-E) in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Field of Thermal Energy Engineering, National University of Sciences and Technology, Islamabad.

Student Name: <u>Muniha Abdul Qadir</u> Examination Committee:

a) GEC 1: Dr. Adeel Waqas
 Professor, USPCAS-E, NUST

b) GEC 2: Dr. Ghulam Ali
 Associate Professor, USPCAS-E, NUST

Supervisor Name: Dr. Majid Ali

Co-Supervisor Name: Dr. Sana Yaqub

Name of HOD: Dr. Asif Hussain Khoja

Name of Dean/Principal: Prof. Dr. Adeel Waqas

Signature: Signature: Signature

Signature: Signature: Signature: Signature:

AUTHOR'S DECLARATION

I Muniha Abdul Qadir hereby state that my MS thesis titled "Synthesis and Characterization of Phase Change Materials for Thermal Energy Storage" is my own work and has not been submitted previously by me for taking any degree from National University of Sciences and Technology, Islamabad or anywhere else in the country/ world.

At any time if my statement is found to be incorrect even after I graduate, the university has the right to withdraw my MS degree.

Name of Student: Muniha Abdul Qadir

Date: 07-01-2025

PLAGIARISM UNDERTAKING

I solemnly declare that research work presented in the thesis titled "Synthesis and Characterization of Phase Change Materials for Thermal Energy Storage" is solely my research work with no significant contribution from any other person. Small contribution/ help wherever taken has been duly acknowledged and that complete thesis has been written by me.

I understand the zero-tolerance policy of the HEC and National University of Sciences and Technology (NUST), Islamabad towards plagiarism. Therefore, I as an author of the above titled thesis declare that no portion of my thesis has been plagiarized and any material used as reference is properly referred/cited.

I undertake that if I am found guilty of any formal plagiarism in the above titled thesis even after award of MS degree, the University reserves the rights to withdraw/revoke my MS degree and that HEC and NUST, Islamabad has the right to publish my name on the HEC/University website on which names of students are placed who submitted plagiarized thesis.

Student Signature: _____

Name:

Muniha Abdul Qadir

.

DEDICATION

I dedicate my thesis to my beloved parents, siblings, and friends for their affection and support during my studies. Especially to my mother for always believing in me, praying for me, and giving me courage.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I want to express my gratitude to Allah Almighty for giving me the wisdom, willpower, chance, and fortitude I needed to finish this project. It would never have been feasible without His blessings.

I would like to express my gratitude to Associate Prof. Dr. Majid Ali and Assistant Prof. Dr. Sana Yaqub of U.S.-Pakistan Centre for Advanced Studies in Energy, NUST for giving me the opportunity to conduct thesis under their supervision.

I express my gratitude to my graduate examination committee members, Dr. Adeel Waqas and Dr. Ghulam Ali for their invaluable guidance during the research and study. The effective completion of the validation survey would not have been possible without their enthusiastic participation and input.

Additionally, I would want to express my gratitude to the lab engineers in the Thermal Energy Engineering & Advanced Energy Materials laboratories. Their encouraging words and stimulating recommendations made it easier for me to organize my project, particularly when it came to testing the synthesized components.

I especially thank Engineer Hassan Nazir for his guidance during the research project.

Lastly, and above all, I would like to express my heartfelt gratitude to my parents for their unwavering support and constant encouragement during my years of study as well as during the process of conducting research and composing this thesis. Without them, this accomplishment would not have been possible.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS | IX |
|---|---------|
| TABLE OF CONTENTS | X |
| LIST OF TABLES | XII |
| LIST OF FIGURES | XIII |
| LIST OF SYMBOLS, ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS | XV |
| ABSTRACT | XVI |
| CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION | 1 |
| 1.1 Energy | 1 |
| 1.2 Thermal Energy Storage | 2 |
| 1.2.1 Sensible Heat Storage | 3 |
| 1.2.2 Latent Heat Storage | 3 |
| 1.2.3 Thermochemical Energy Storage | 3 |
| 1.3 Phase Change Materials (PCMs) | 4 |
| 1.4 Motivation | 6 |
| 1.5 Research Statement | 7 |
| 1.0 Objectives of Research 1.7 Theorie Outlines | 6 9 |
| 1.7 Thesis Outlines 1.8 Flow Chart | o 10 |
| CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW | 11 |
| 2.1 Classification of Phase Change Materials | 11 |
| 2.2 Phase Transition Temperature | 12 |
| 2.3 Properties of Phase Change Materials for Thermal Energy Storage | 14 |
| 2.4 Selection Criteria | 20 |
| 2.5 Eutectic Phase Change Materials | 20 |
| CHAPTER 3: METHODOLOGY & CHARACTERIZATION METHODS | 22 |
| 3.1 Thermal Characterization | 22 |
| 3.1.1 Differential Scanning Calorimeter (DSC) Analysis | 22 |
| 3.1.2 Thermal Gravimetric Analysis (TGA) | 23 |
| 3.1.3 Thermal Conductivity (DTC) Analysis | 24 |
| 3.2 Chemical Structure Characterization | 24 |
| 3.2.1 Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy (FT-IR) | 24 |
| CHAPTER 4: EXPERIMENTAL | 26 |
| 4.1 Materials | 26 |
| 4.2 Determination of Eutectic mass ratios | 26 |
| 4.3 Preparation of EPCMs | 28 |

| CHAP | TER 5: RESULTS & DISCUSSION | 30 |
|--------|--|----|
| 5.1 | Development of Eutectic PCMs | 30 |
| 5.1.1 | Phase Diagrams | 30 |
| 5.1.2 | 2 Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy Analysis | 36 |
| 5.1.3 | B Differential Scanning Calorimeter Analysis | 42 |
| 5.1.3 | B Specific Heat Capacity Analysis | 51 |
| 5.1.4 | Thermal Gravimetric Analysis | 52 |
| 5.1.5 | 5 Thermal Conductivity Analysis (DTC) | 55 |
| 5.1.6 | 5 Performance Characteristics Analysis | 57 |
| СНАР | TER 6: CONCLUSION & FUTURE RECOMMENDATIONS | 59 |
| 6.1 | Conclusion | 59 |
| 6.2 | Future Recommendations | 60 |
| REFE | RENCES | 62 |
| LIST (| DF PUBLICATIONS | 76 |

LIST OF TABLES

Page No.

| Table 2. 1: Thermal Properties of Organic PCMs used for Thermal Energy Storage | . 14 |
|---|------|
| Table 2. 2: Thermal Properties of Inorganic PCMs used for Thermal Energy Storage | .15 |
| Table 2. 3: Thermal Properties of Eutectic PCMs for Thermal Energy Storage. | . 19 |
| Table 4.1: Thermal characteristics of the fatty acids used to prepare the eutectic combinations | 26 |
| Table 5.1: Theoretical eutectic point derived from phase diagrams and predicted thermalproper | ties |
| of binary EPCMs | .35 |
| Table 5. 2: Thermal characteristics of EPCMs as determined by DSC | .50 |
| Table 5. 3: Comparison of predicted and measured thermal characteristics of eutectic PCMs | . 51 |
| Table 5. 4: Thermal Stability of EPCMs as determined by TGA. | . 55 |
| Table 5. 5: Comparison of predicted and measured thermal Conducivity of EPCMs | 56 |
| Table 5. 6: Comparison of performance characteristics of EPCMs | 57 |

LIST OF FIGURES

| Figure 1. 1: Comparison of Thermal Energy Storage Types [9] | 2 |
|--|---------|
| Figure 1. 2: Phase Changing Phenomenon | 4 |
| Figure 1. 3: Classification of PCMs [14] | 5 |
| Figure 1. 4: PCMs Applications [9] | 6 |
| Figure 1. 5: Thesis flow chart | 10 |
| Figure 2. 1: Classification of Solid-Liquid PCMs | 11 |
| Figure 2.2: Melting temperatures of selected organic PCMs (a) below 50°C (b) between | en 50°C |
| to80°C (c) above 80°C for TES | 13 |
| Figure 2. 3: Melting temperatures of selected inorganic PCMs (a) below 50°C (b) betwee | en 50°C |
| to 80°C (c) above 80°C for TES | 13 |
| Figure 2. 4: Melting temperatures of selected eutectic PCMs for TES | 14 |
| Figure 2. 5: Melting Temperature range of fatty acids based EPCMs | 21 |
| Figure 3. 1: DSC- 250 (TA Instruments) apparatus | 23 |
| Figure 3. 2: TGA 5500 (TA Instruments) apparatus | |
| Figure 3. 3: DTC-300 Thermal Conductivity Meter (TA Instruments) Apparatus | |
| Figure 3. 4: The Cary 630 FTIR Spectrometer | 25 |
| Figure 4. 1 Schematic of Eutectic PCMs preparation. | 29 |
| Figure 5. 1: Phase Diagram of PA-PEG2K. | 30 |
| Figure 5. 2: Phase Diagram of PA-PEG4K. | 31 |
| Figure 5. 3: Phase Diagram of P. | 31 |
| Figure 5. 4: Phase Diagram of SA-PEG2K | 32 |
| Figure 5. 5: Phase Diagram of SA-PEG4K | 32 |
| Figure 5. 6: Phase Diagram of SA-PEG | 33 |
| Figure 5. 7: Phase Diagram of MA-PEG2K | 33 |
| Figure 5. 8: Phase Diagram of MA-PEG4K | 34 |
| Figure 5. 9: Phase Diagram of MA-PEG6K | 34 |
| Figure 5. 10: FTIR spectra of pure PCMs (PA, PEG2K) and Eutectic combination (PA-P | 'EG2)37 |
| Figure 5. 11: FTIR spectra of pure PCMs (PA, PEG4K) and Eutectic combination (PA-P | 'EG4)37 |
| Figure 5. 12: FTIR spectra of pure PCMs (PA, PEG6K) and Eutectic combination (PA-P | EG6)38 |
| Figure 5. 13: FTIR spectra of pure PCMs (SA, PEG2K) and Eutectic combination (SA-P | EG2)38 |
| Figure 5. 14: FTIR spectra of pure PCMs (SA, PEG4K) and Eutectic combination (SA-P | EG4)39 |
| Figure 5. 15: FTIR spectra of pure PCMs (SA, PEG6K) and Eutectic combination (SA-P | EG6)39 |
| Figure 5. 16: FTIR spectra of pure PCMs (MA, PEG2K) and Eutectic combination (MA-I | PEG) 40 |
| Figure 5. 17: FTIR spectra of pure PCMs (MA, PEG4K) and Eutectic combination (MA-I | PEG4K) |
| | |
| Figure 5. 18: FTIR spectra of pure PCMs (MA, PEG6K) and Eutectic combination (MA-J | PEG6K) |
| | |
| Figure 5. 19: Heat flow curves of PA | |
| Figure 5. 20: Heat Flow Curve of SA | |
| Figure 5. 21: Heat Flow Curve of MA | |

| Figure 5. 22: Heat Flow Curve of PEG2K | 44 |
|---|--------|
| Figure 5. 23: Heat Flow Curve of PEG4K | 44 |
| Figure 5. 24: Heat Flow Curve of PEG6K | 45 |
| Figure 5. 25: Heat Flow Curve of PA-PEG2K | 46 |
| Figure 5. 26: Heat Flow Curve of PA-PEG4K | 46 |
| Figure 5. 27: Heat Flow Curve of PA-PEG6K | 47 |
| Figure 5. 28: Heat Flow Curve of SA-PEG2K | 47 |
| Figure 5. 29: Heat Flow Curve of SA-PEG4K | 48 |
| Figure 5. 30: Heat Flow Curve of SA-PEG6K | 48 |
| Figure 5. 31: Heat Flow Curve of MA-PEG2K | 49 |
| Figure 5. 32: Heat Flow Curve of MA-PEG4K | 49 |
| Figure 5. 33: Heat Flow Curve of MA-PEG6K | 50 |
| Figure 5. 34: (a) Specific Heat Capacity of Pure PCMs(b) Specific Heat Capacity of EPCM | s 52 |
| Figure 5. 35: TGA of PA-PEG2K, PA-PEG4K, and PA-PEG6K | 53 |
| Figure 5. 36: TGA of SA-PEG2K, SA-PEG4K, and SA-PEG6K | 54 |
| Figure 5. 37: TGA of MA-PEG2K, MA-PEG4K, and MA-PEG6K | 54 |
| Figure 5. 38: Thermal Conductivity of EPCMs. | 56 |
| Figure 5. 39: Fatty acid-polymers based PCMs and EPCMs (a) Melting Temperature and L | Latent |
| heat (b) Specific Heat Capacity | 58 |
| | |

LIST OF SYMBOLS, ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS

| DIFFERENTIAL SCANNING CALORIMETER | DSC |
|---|-------|
| DOMESTIC HOT WATER | DHW |
| EUTECTIC POINT | E.P |
| EUTECTIC PHASE CHANGE MATERIALS | EPCMS |
| FOURIER TRANSFORM INFRARED SPECTROSCOPY | FT-IR |
| LATENT HEAT | L.H |
| LATENT HEAT THERMAL ENERGY STORAGE | LHTES |
| MELTING TEMPERATURE | M.T |
| ONSET MELTING TEMPERATURE | ТО |
| PEAK MELTING TEMPERATURE | ТР |
| PEAK END MELTING TEMPERATURE | TE |
| PHASE CHANGE MATERIALS | PCMS |
| PALMITIC ACID | PA |
| POLYETHYLENE GLYCOL 2000 | PEG2K |
| POLYETHYLENE GLYCOL 4000 | PEG4K |
| POLYETHYLENE GLYCOL 6000 | PEG6K |
| STEARIC ACID | SA |
| SPECIFIC HEAT CAPACITY | СР |
| SOLAR SPACE HEATING | SSH |
| THERMAL ENERGY STORAGE | TES |
| THERMAL ENERGY STORAGE SYSTEMS TESS | TESS |

ABSTRACT

Eutectic phase change materials (EPCMs) based on fatty acids-polyethylene glycol are developed for low temperature thermal energy storage application. Four distinct eutectic PCMs (PA-PEG2K, PA-PEG4K, SA-PEG2K, and SA-PEG4K) are prepared through melt blending followed by ultrasonication. Thermal properties such as melting temperature, latent heat, and eutectic composition of the PCMs are calculated using the Schrader equation. The chemical structure of the prepared eutectic PCMs is analyzed using Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy. Thermal properties are also experimentally determined using a Differential Scanning Calorimeter and the prepared eutectic PCMs exhibit melting temperature ranging from 46.4°C to 54.7°C. The latent heat of prepared eutectic PCMs falls between 185.89 J/g and 188.33 J/g, and specific heat capacity in liquidus ranges from 2.2 J·g⁻¹·°C⁻¹ to 2.4 J·g⁻¹·°C⁻¹ whereas, specific heat capacity in solidus ranges from 1.6 $J \cdot g^{-1} \cdot {}^{\circ}C^{-1}$ to 1.8 $J \cdot g^{-1} \cdot {}^{\circ}C^{-1}$. It is evident from the TGA that these developed fatty acidpolyethylene glycols based binary eutectic combinations exhibit promising thermal stability. However, the results from DTC indicated that the thermal conductivity of EPCMS lies in the range of 0.347W/mK to 0.423W/mK. These eutectic PCMs have promising characteristics for low to moderate temperature thermal energy storage applications such as solar thermal space heating and domestic water heating systems.

Keywords: Thermal energy storage, Eutectic phase change materials, Fatty acids, Polymers

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

1.1 Energy

The advancement of technology has led to a rise in global energy demands. Consequently, there is a growing need to focus on sustainable energy sources due to the depletion of fossil fuels and the pressing challenge of climate change [1,2]. Solar energy stands out as a highly promising renewable energy source for capturing thermal energy without negatively impacting the environment. However, its intermittent nature presents a significant obstacle to its seamless integration into energy systems.

Electricity and natural gas serve as essential energy sources for district heating needs, encompassing both space and water heating applications. The energy crises in Pakistan have taken a substantial toll on both the residential and industrial sectors [3]. Pakistan, situated in an area with some of the world's most abundant solar insolation, boasts significant solar resources ideal for harnessing solar thermal energy.

Decarbonizing the energy sector involves the integration of renewable energy sources into existing systems, alongside the incorporation of various thermal energy storage systems with a remarkable round-trip efficiency exceeding 96% [4,5]. These thermal systems serve as a solution to mitigate the intermittency of solar energy, ultimately leading to a substantial reduction in greenhouse gas emissions and a significant decrease in reliance on fossil fuels. This transition also enhances the utilization of solar energy, ensuring the supply of affordable and environmentally friendly energy to end-users [6,7]. The integration of thermal energy storage (TES) systems with solar space and water heating applications reduces dependency on gas or electric heating units,

which, in turn, lowers consumer utility bills. Embracing TES in conjunction with renewables enhances the proportion of renewable energy resources in everyday life, resulting in positive impacts on both the environment and the economy.

1.2 Thermal Energy Storage

Numerous techniques are available for energy storage, but one of the widely adopted methods is thermal energy storage [8]. A significant abundance of thermal energy sources, including geothermal and solar, is at our disposal. Additionally, waste heat generated by various processes offers another substantial source of thermal energy. These resources inspire the exploration of ways to harness this energy. Thermal energy storage methods can be broadly classified into two categories: physical and chemical storage methods [9]. In the past few decades, LHS has garnered attention due to its dependable performance, a diverse range of available materials, and other notable performance indicators, as illustrated in Figure 1.1.



Figure 1. 1: Comparison of Thermal Energy Storage Types [9]

1.2.1 Sensible Heat Storage

Sensible heat storage is a type of thermal energy storage in which heat is stored by adjusting the medium's temperature. A variety of substances, such as water, air, oil, rock, bricks, concrete, or sand, can be used as storage media. Among these options, water and rock beds are the most frequently employed materials for sensible heat storage. The quantity of stored energy depends on factors such as the specific heat capacity, temperature increase, and the mass of the medium [10].

1.2.2 Latent Heat Storage

Latent heat is another type of thermal energy that is linked to the significant absorption and release of heat that takes place at a constant temperature during the storage medium's phase shift process. The mass of the medium and the specific latent heat have a direct correlation with the amount of this energy. [10]. Compared to sensible heat storage, latent heat storage has benefits, primarily due to its higher energy density. This method is particularly suitable for storing energy with minimal temperature variations, often applied in domestic hot water systems [11].

1.2.3 Thermochemical Energy Storage

Thermochemical energy refers to the amount of thermal energy stored and released through reversible endothermic and exothermic chemical reactions. It has the highest energy density among the three types [12].

1.3 Phase Change Materials (PCMs)

Materials with the ability to store latent heat are referred to as Phase Change Materials (PCMs). As the source temperature increases, PCMs undergo phase changes at a constant temperature, breaking chemical bonds and storing latent heat [9], as demonstrated in Figure 1.2.



Figure 1. 2: Phase Changing Phenomenon

These substances are utilized to capture thermal energy from renewable sources for subsequent use. While they can store and release a significant amount of latent heat, they exhibit low thermal conductivity. **Figure 1.3** displays various types of Phase Change Materials, but this section specifically delves into solid-liquid PCMs, including organic, inorganic, and eutectic PCMs [9].



Figure 1. 3: Classification of PCMs [14]

PCMs have the potential to be applied in various fields, including thermal batteries, solar thermal power plants, space heating/cooling, smart textiles, buildings, the food industry, spacecraft thermal control, concentrated solar power plants, and more, as depicted in **Figure 1.4.** However, the limited thermal conductivity of PCMs can pose restrictions on these applications.



Figure 1. 4: PCMs Applications [9]

1.4 Motivation

Thermal energy storage research is active due to increased energy demand and addressing renewable energy intermittency. Combining LHTES with solar thermal collectors contributes to the global goal of reducing temperature rise and decarbonizing energy consumption [15].

Materials like organic PCMs and their mixtures, such as fatty acids and paraffin compounds, are a good option for combining thermal energy storage (TES) with solar heating systems. These substances show promise for various uses due to their ability to store a lot of energy. Designing effective materials and systems for TES with high energy capacity is crucial, and the scientific community is paying a lot of attention to it.

The thermophysical characteristics, including the melting temperature and latent heat, of organic EPCMs are investigated as potential options for long-term heat storage (LHTES) [14,15].

The advantages of these solid-liquid PCMs highlights their suitability for applications requiring low to moderate temperatures [18]:

- Readily accessible
- Environmentally friendly and bio-based
- Minimal supercooling
- Uniform melting
- Compatible with construction materials
- Dependable

Within the category of organic PCMs, fatty acids stand out for their affordability [17–20] and excellent chemical and thermal stability. They are also biodegradable, with a melting temperature well-suited for low to moderate temperature applications in long-term heat storage (LHS) [21–26]. These applications include thermal control in buildings, regulating temperature in textiles, and district water heating (DWH) [27,28].

Specialized engineered materials known as EPCMs can be created by combining specific mass ratios of organic, inorganic, or a combination of both types of PCMs [21,29,30]. Accordingly, nine distinct EPCMs based on fatty acids have been developed to cater to low to moderate temperature applications based on specific requirements.

1.5 Research Statement

The prediction of thermophysical properties and the determination of the eutectic point of eutectic PCMs have not been extensively studied. Additionally, there are discrepancies in the experimentally determined thermophysical properties, such as L.H and M.T, found in the literature [31,32]. Accurate thermophysical properties are essential for designing appropriate LHTES systems to efficiently utilize the technology [35]. This study provides theoretical and experimental insights into the development of eutectic PCMs, and it also examines the effect of the number of components on the M.T, L.H, and specific heat capacity.

Different fatty acids namely palmitic acid (PA), stearic acid (SA), myristic acid (MA), polyethylene glycol 2000 (PEG2K), polyethylene glycol 4000 (PEG4K) and polyethylene glycol 6000 (PEG6K) are considered to develop EPCMs having high latent heat of fusion.

1.6 Objectives of Research

The following are the objective of this work:

- To predict the thermophysical properties and eutectic point of eutectic PCMs
- Selecting the suitable Phase Change Materials (PCMs) to develop a series of organic EPCMs and determine the thermophysical properties from Schrader Equation.
- Thermal stability and chemical characterization of EPCMs are determined through TGA and FT-IR.
- Analysis of thermophysical properties (melting temperature, latent heat, and specific heat capacity) of Phase Change Materials (PCMs) using Differential Scanning Calorimetry (DSC).

1.7 Thesis Outlines

The thesis begins with Chapter 1: Introduction, providing an overview of TES, phase change materials, their working principles, and the research objectives focused on eutectic PCMs.

Chapter 2: Literature Review covers the classification, properties, and selection criteria of PCMs, with a focus on eutectic PCMs and the charging/discharging processes of LHTES systems.

Chapter 3: Methodology and Characterization Methods explains the synthesis and testing of eutectic PCMs, detailing the experimental techniques and characterization methods used to evaluate thermal properties.

Chapter 4: Experimental outlines the materials, procedures, and setup used in the study to test the synthesized eutectic PCMs within a thermal storage system.

Chapter 5: Results and Discussion presents the findings, analyzing the performance of the eutectic PCMs in energy storage and comparing them with theoretical data.

Chapter 6: Conclusion and Future Recommendations summarizes the research outcomes and suggests future directions for improving eutectic PCM synthesis and LHTES applications.

1.8 Flow Chart



Figure 1. 5: Thesis flow chart

CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Classification of Phase Change Materials

Based on phase transformation mode, PCMs are often categorized as; Solid-Solid, Solid-Gas, Liquid-Gas, and Solid-liquid PCMs [36]. Solid-solid PCMs have low latent heat during phase transition, while both Solid-Gas and Liquid-Gas PCMs are frequently avoided in LHTES systems due to the considerable changes in volume that occur during their phase transitions [37]. Whereas, due to high energy storage density and a wide working temperature range for TES applications, Solid-liquid PCMs are well-known [38]. They are further classified as shown in **Figure 2.1**. Organic PCMs such as; paraffin, non-paraffin, and their eutectics have extensively been used in the literature [15,37] However, the thermal properties of PCMs are critical for their potential applications. Among all organic PCMs fatty acids are the most widely used PCMs. Some properties of fatty acids including; high thermochemical stability, non-toxic, biodegradable, and an appropriate operating temperature range for low to moderate-temperature applications made them attractive [17,19,22].



Figure 2. 1: Classification of Solid-Liquid PCMs

2.2 Phase Transition Temperature

According to the phase transition temperature, PCMs are categorized into low temperature PCMs, medium temperature PCMs and high temperature PCMs. Hoshi et al. [40] classified PCMs with melting points below 220°C as low temperature PCMs, whereas, medium temperature PCMs having melting points between 220 and 420°C and those with melting values over 420 °C as hightemperature materials. However, the melting points of few organic compounds [18], [41], [42], [43] are shown in Figure 2.2 (a-c). Since their melting temperatures falls in the range of 100-200°C, Organic PCMs involving Paraffin, fatty acids, polyalcohol's, polymeric materials like PEG (polyethylene Glycol) and sugar alcohols like D-threitol, Erythritol, D-mannitol, and pentaerythritol are typically taken into consideration for low temperature applications [44]. However, melting temperatures for the majority of the organic compounds are lower than 80 °C. Whereas, among the chosen organic materials, high-density polyethylene (HDPE) has the highest melting point, which is 150°C. Organic EPCMs fall into the low temperature PCMs group. Although, the melting points of few inorganic materials [45],[41],[46],[47],[48] are shown in Figure 2.3 (a-c). While the melting temperature for most salt hydrates are lower than 220°C. However, the use of these inorganic salts, such as metal carbonates, chlorides, sulphates, fluorides, and nitrates, as PCMs for high-temperature TES applications needing operating temperatures over 500 °C is widespread [47]. Even though the melting temperatures of a few different eutectic mixes from ambient temperature up to about 770 °C are shown in Figure 2.4 (a-c) [18],[46],[47],[48],[49]. Whereas, the melting points of metal alloys and inorganic eutectics are remarkably high, as can be easily seen, making them perfect for concentrating solar power (CSP) applications. Figure 2.4 illustrates the importance of eutectic aluminum alloys for hightemperature TES systems.



Figure 2. 2: Melting temperatures of selected organic PCMs (a) below 50°C (b) between 50°C to 80°C

(c) above 80°C for TES [9]



Figure 2. 3: Melting temperatures of selected inorganic PCMs (a) below 50°C (b) between 50°C to 80°C

(c) above 80°C for TES [9]



Figure 2. 4: Melting temperatures of selected eutectic PCMs for TES [9]

2.3 Properties of Phase Change Materials for Thermal Energy Storage

Most Important thermal properties of PCMs are; M.T, L.H, Cp, thermal stability [50] and thermal conductivity [51].

According to Chu et al. [52] energy storage systems is important since renewable energy sources are intermittent in nature. These resources are unable to completely fulfil the supply and demand chain. It is critical to propose an effective way to store energy for real-world applications.

Numerous investigations on organic PCMs (fatty acids) and their eutectics as potential LHTES candidates have been carried out [22,23]. Hassan et al.[37]. examined the thermal properties of Stearic acid (SA), having M. T in the range of 67-69 °C and L.H of fusion was 222.16 KJ.kg⁻¹. Whereas, the M. T range of Palmitic acid (PA) was 62-67°C with the L.H of fusion was 209.46 KJ.kg⁻¹. However, in the case of eutectic PCM (eutectic composition of SA/PA: 39/61), the melting temperature was dropped to 52.5-55.1°C, and L.H of fusion was reduced to 181-182.4

KJ.kg⁻¹ which reflects that prepared eutectic PCMs would be suitable for SSH and DHW applications. Additionally, Ke et al.[54]. also examined the thermal characteristics of SA and PA. Where the latent heat of SA was 222.8- 226.7 KJ.kg⁻¹ and the M. T was in the range of 67.06-68.96 °C which was similar to the data reported by Hassan et al. [37]. Furthermore, PA also shows almost a similar melting temperature (60.38-62.11°C) and L.H of fusion (212.1-214.6 KJ/kg). When the eutectic of SA/PA was prepared with the eutectic composition of 37.01/62.99, the temperature was reduced to 53.45-53.69°C, and latent heat is decreased to 204.2-204.7 KJ.kg⁻¹.

Zhou et al. [55]. also prepared EPCMs for TES by using Lauric Acid (LA) and PA. It was observed that the M. T and L.H of PA remained in a similar range (58.9-64°C, 185.4-212.1 KJ.kg⁻¹ respectively). However, the M. T of LA was 42.4-44°C with L.H of 174.9-186.4 KJ.kg⁻¹. Whereas, the prepared eutectic of LA/PA (69.8/30.2) reduced the M. T from 42.4-64°C to 34.60-37.80°C with decreased L.H from 174.9-212.1 KJ.kg⁻¹ to 154.8-164 KJ.kg⁻¹. The thermal properties of SA and Myristic acid (MA) were investigated by Sari et al. [56]. It was found that the M. T and L.H of SA (67.80°C,198.9 KJ.kg⁻¹ respectively) remained the same. However, the M. T of MA was 52.32 °C with a L.H of 182.6 KJ/kg. Whereas, the eutectic of MA/SA (64/36) reduced the melting temperature from 52.32-67.80°C to 44.10°C with decreased latent heat from 182.6-198.9 KJ.kg⁻¹ to 182.4 KJ.kg⁻¹.

Kou et al. [57] investigated the thermal properties of Polyethylene glycol (PEG-2K and PEG-4K). The M. T and L.H of PEG-2K were 50.77°C and 165.43 KJ.kg⁻¹ respectively. Whereas, the melting temperature of PEG4K was 55.95°C and latent heat was 173.62 KJ.kg⁻¹. Additionally, Jia et.al. [58] also examined the M.T and L.H of PEG-2K which was 52.5°C and 154.1 KJ.kg⁻¹ respectively. Furthermore, Fang et al. [59] also show almost the same melting temperature

(55.3°C) and L.H (186.7 KJ.kg⁻¹) of PEG-4K. The open-source literature reveals that the M.T of PEG-2K lies in the range between 50-53°C while for PEG-4K its 55-58 °C.

By performing a thermal characterization on myristic and palmitic acids after 1500 melt/freeze cycles, Sharma et al. [60] investigated their thermal stability. According to Cai et al. [61], the melting point of fatty acid eutectic mixtures was determined to be 35–53°C. Thermal properties of PCMs are listed in Table 2.1, 2.2 and 2.3.

| Materials | Melting Temperature | Latent Heat of fusion | Specific Heat Capacity (C _p) | | Specific Heat Capacity (C _p) D | | Density | Ref |
|-------------------------|------------------------|--------------------------|--|-----------|--|-----------|---------|-----|
| | (Tm) | (ΔH_m) | Cps | Cpl | (ps) | | | |
| | (°C) | (kJ/kg) | (kJ/kg K) | (kJ/kg K) | (kg/m^3) | | | |
| Formic acid | 8 | 277 | 1.00 | 1.17 | 1227 | [44] | | |
| Acetic acid | 17 | 192 | 1.33 | 2.04 | 1214 | [62] | | |
| Lauric acid | 44 | 212 | 2.02 | 2.15 | 1007 | [62] | | |
| Stearic acid | 54 | 157 | 1.76 | 2.27 | 940 | [63],[19] | | |
| Palmitic acid | 61 | 222 | 1.69 | 2.20 | 989 | [64] | | |
| Paraffin wax | 0-90 | 150-250 | 3.00 | 2.00 | 880-950 | [48] | | |
| Acetamide | 82 | 260 | 2.00 | 3.00 | 1160 | [65] | | |
| Oxalic acid | 105 | 356 | 1.62 | 2.73 | 1900 | [66] | | |
| Urea | 134 | 250 | 1.80 | 2.11 | 1320 | [67] | | |
| Maleic acid | 141 | 385 | 1.17 | 2.08 | 1590 | [68] | | |
| Adipic acid | 152 | 275 | 1.87 | 2.72 | 1360 | [69] | | |
| Erythritol | 117 | 340 | 2.25 | 2.61 | 1450 | [70] | | |
| Phthalic anhydride | 131 | 160 | 1.85 | 2.20 | 1530 | [71] | | |
| 2-Chlorobenzoic acid | 142 | 164 | 1.30 | 1.60 | 1544 | [72] | | |
| Capric acid | 32 | 156 | 1.91 | 2.11 | 1004 | [73] | | |
| d-mannitol | 165 | 300 | 1.31 | 2.36 | 1490 | [74] | | |
| Hydroquinone | 172 | 258 | 1.59 | 1.64 | 1300 | [75] | | |
| HDPE | 130 | 255 | 2.60 | 2.15 | 952 | [36] | | |

Table 2. 1: Thermal Properties of Organic PCMs used for Thermal Energy Storage.

| Materials | Melting Temperature | Latent Heat of fusion | Specific Heat Capacity (C _p) | | Density | Ref |
|---------------------------------------|------------------------|--------------------------|--|-----------------|----------------------|------------------|
| | (T _m) | (ΔH_m) | C _{ps} | C _{pl} | (ρ _s) | |
| | (°C) | (kJ/kg) | (kJ/kg K) | (kJ/kg K) | (kg/m ³) | |
| Calcium chloride hexahydrate | 30 | 125 | 1.42 | 2.20 | 1710 | [9,13,17, 47] |
| Sodium sulphate decahydrate | 32 | 180 | 1.93 | 2.80 | 1485 | [13,17,47] |
| Sodium thiosulfate pentahydrate | 462 | 210 | 1.46 | 2.39 | 1666 | [1,13, 48] |
| Sodium acetate trihydrate | 58 | 266 | 1.68 | 2.37 | 1450 | [13,49,50] |
| Barium hydroxide octahydrate | 78 | 280 | 1.34 | 2.44 | 2180 | [13,51] |
| Magnesium nitrate hexahydrate | 89 | 140 | 2.50 | 3.10 | 1640 | [13,17,52] |
| Oxalic acid dihydrate | 105 | 264 | 2.11 | 2.89 | 1653 | [70] |
| Magnesium chloride hexahydrate | 117 | 150 | 2.00 | 2.40 | 1570 | [13,52] |

Table 2. 2: Thermal Properties of Inorganic PCMs used for Thermal Energy Storage.

| Eutectic PCMs | Eutectic type | Eutectic Composition | Melting Temperature | Latent heat of fusion | Application areas | Ref | |
|----------------|------------------|----------------------------|------------------------|--------------------------|--|---------|--|
| | | (wt.%) | (°C) | (KJ/Kg) | | | |
| SA-PA | Binary | 36.8/63.2 | 55 | 180 | - | [21] | |
| SA-PA | Binary | 39/61 | 55.1 | 181 | Domestic water heating, solar space heating | [37] | |
| SA-PA | Binary | 37.01/62.9 | 56.2 | 204.7 | - | [54] | |
| MA-SA | Binary | 64/36 | 44.1 | 182.4 | Low temperature solar heating | [23] | |
| LA-MA | Binary | 66/34 | 34.2 | 166.8 | Low Temperature solar heating | [7, 53] | |
| LA-PA | Binary | 69/31 | 35.2 | 166.3 | - | [23] | |
| CA-LA | Binary | 64/36 | 18.5 | 162.9 | Solar Passive heating & cooling | [82] | |
| CA-MA | Binary | 73/27 | 21.7 | 165.22 | Solar Passive heating & cooling | [82] | |
| CA-MA | Binary | 78/22 | 20.5 | 153 | Passive cooling in buildings | [50] | |
| CA-LA-SA | Ternary | 30/60/10 | 16.4 | 174.9 | Low temperature TES | [83] | |
| CA-PA-SA | Ternary | 80/10/10 | 19.8 | 154.1 | - | [83] | |
| LA-MA-SA | Ternary | 57.5/34.3/8.2 | 29.4 | -140 | Building heating/cooling | [84] | |
| SA-PA-PT68 | Ternary | 43.92/28.08/28 | 52.1 | 167.9 | Domestic water heating | [37] | |
| SA-PA-LA-MA | Quaternary | 6.76/12.57/55.24/ 25.4 | 29.64 | 151.9 | Temperature regulation and insulation textiles | [54] | |
| SA-PA-LA-PT68 | Quaternary | 14.04/21.96/54/10 | 30.0 | 157.9 | Thermoregulating textiles | [37] | |
| CA-LA-MA-PA-SA | Quinary | 50.7/31.2/10.3/5.1/ 2.7 | 17.64 | 132.8 | Human thermal comfortability | [54] | |

 Table 2. 3: Properties of Eutectic PCMs for Thermal Energy Storage.

2.4 Selection Criteria

The selection of an appropriate PCM for a certain application is a difficult task with a variety of factors that need to be considered. The lack of thermophysical property data for the majority of PCMs complicates the selection procedure even further.

The fundamental requirement of a suitable PCMs for a specific application is that its melting temperature falls within the TES storage system's intended operating temperature range. PCMs with high latent heat values are preferred due to their high energy storage densities (MJ. m⁻³) [41, 83,84]. A PCM's thermal conductivity should be more than 0.2 W/m. K, PCMs with higher heat capacities and thermal conductivities improve the LHTES system's storage capacity [87]. Other desirable characteristics are minimal super cooling, low vapor pressure, coherent melting behavior, cyclic reliability, and a less corrosive PCM [86–88].

Based on market research and the availability of PCM, "Palmitic acid, stearic acid, myristic acid, polyethylene glycol 2000, polyethylene glycol 4000, and polyethylene glycol 6000" were chosen for the experimental study on eutectic PCMs at the National University of Sciences and Technology, Islamabad, Pakistan.

2.5 Eutectic Phase Change Materials

Special substances known as Eutectic PCMs (EPCMs) are created by mixing specific components in precise mass ratio [37]. EPCMs are divided into three categories based on the type of their constituents: organic [36, 58, 89–91] inorganic [92,93] and
organic-inorganic eutectics [39,94,95]. EPCMs can be binary, ternary, quaternary, or quinary mixtures [37]. Figure 2.5 depicts the operational temperature range of the EPCMs that have been developed [98].



Figure 2. 5: Melting Temperature range of fatty acids based EPCMs

Kant et al. [99] developed ternary eutectic systems using fatty acids and found that their melting temperature ranges from 14 to 21°C. In a separate study, Ke [100] utilized a predictive methodology to create various Eutectic Phase Change Materials (EPCMs) based on fatty acids, analyzing their thermophysical properties.

CHAPTER 3: METHODOLOGY & CHARACTERIZATION

METHODS

The selection of PCM for developing eutectic phase change materials (EPCMs) focuses on thermo-physical properties such as high latent heat, energy density, and melting point. Additionally, it is crucial to consider kinetic, physical, and chemical properties, as well as factors like availability, reliability, and adaptability.

The framework of the study for EPCM development integrates mathematical models to determine eutectic compositions and predict their thermo-physical properties across various combinations of materials.

Nine EPCMs were synthesized using the melt blending method [84]. FT-IR was employed to analyze the chemical structure of the eutectic PCMs. Additionally, DSC and TGA [101] were utilized to experimentally measure the thermo-physical properties and thermal stability of these EPCMs. The acquired data provide essential insights for integrating EPCMs into LHTES.

3.1 Thermal Characterization

3.1.1 Differential Scanning Calorimeter (DSC) Analysis

Differential scanning calorimetry (DSC250, TA-Instruments) is employed to evaluate the phase transition behaviours and specific heat capacity of the prepared EPCMs. The instrument has an accuracy of \pm 0.1 °C and is operated with a scanning rate of 10°C/min under a constant flow rate of Nitrogen at 50 ml/min. The scanning temperature range for both heating and cooling cycles is set between 0 and 90 °C. Temperature and heat flow calibrations of DSC are carried out with indium and sapphire, respectively. Each

EPCMs sample, weighing between 5 and 8 mg, are put in T-zero Aluminium pans and sealed with T-zero lids to perform thermal analysis in DSC.



Figure 3. 1: DSC- 250 (TA Instruments) apparatus

3.1.2 Thermal Gravimetric Analysis (TGA)

The thermal stability of the eutectic PCMs is evaluated using a TGA 5500 instrument from TA Instruments, USA. Prior to reaching its breakdown temperature, the furnace underwent nitrogen gas purging to prevent any undesired reactions. A sample weighing 10 mg was placed on a pan inside the furnace, and the eutectic sample was subjected to heating between 25°C and 300°C at a rate of 10 °C/min. Throughout the temperature variation, changes in sample weight were continuously recorded.



Figure 3. 2: TGA 5500 (TA Instruments) apparatus

3.1.3 Thermal Conductivity (DTC) Analysis

Thermal conductivity of the pure PCMs and prepared EPCMs was measured using DTC 300, TA Instruments, USA with an accuracy of \pm 3%. The guarded heat flow test method is used by this equipment and testing is performed as per ASTM-E1530.



Figure 3. 3: DTC-300 Thermal Conductivity Meter (TA Instruments) Apparatus

3.2 Chemical Structure Characterization

3.2.1 Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy (FT-IR)

The chemical structure of the synthesized eutectic mixtures is examined using Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy (FT-IR, Agilent Cary 630), with spectra recorded in the range of 5000 to 400 cm⁻¹. By analyzing the absorption spectra of electromagnetic radiation within the frequency range of 4000 to 400 cm⁻¹, it becomes possible to identify organic compounds, as these frequencies correspond to the vibrations of chemical bonds in organic materials.



Figure 3. 4: The Cary 630 FTIR Spectrometer

CHAPTER 4: EXPERIMENTAL

4.1 Materials

Pristine materials are used for the preparation of the EPCMs without further purification in this study and their thermal properties are enlisted in **Table 4.1.** The examined fatty acids are neither toxic, flammable, or corrosive. The thermal properties of pure materials are also determined through DSC. The weight of pure materials for preparation of the EPCMs is measured using (AS-220.R2, RADWAG) weight balance having an accuracy of \pm 0.2mg.

Table 4. 1: Thermal characteristics of the fatty acids used to prepare the eutectic combinations.

| Samples/ Materials | CAS number | Supplier | Purity | Molecular weight | Melting point | Specific capacity | heat | Latent heat of fusion |
|---------------------------|---------------|------------------|--------|---------------------|------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------------|
| | | | | | | At 70- 80°C | At 20- 30°C | |
| | | | | | | Cp_{liquid} | Cp_{solid} | |
| | | | (%) | (g/mol) | (°C) | (J/g [.] °C) | (J/g [.] °C) | (J/g) |
| Polyethylene Glycol 2K | 25322-68-3 | Sigma Aldrich | 97 | 2000 | 49.4 | 2.1 | 1.5 | 182.9 |
| Polyethylene Glycol 4K | 25322-68-3 | Sigma Aldrich | 97 | 4000 | 56.0 | 2.2 | 1.6 | 198.0 |
| Polyethylene Glycol 6K | 25322-68-3 | Sigma Aldrich | | 6000 | 59.1 | - | - | 200.3 |
| Palmitic Acid | 57-11-4 | Sigma Aldrich | 95 | 256.42 | 61.3 | 2.6 | 1.9 | 214.2 |
| Stearic Acid | 57-11-4 | Sigma Aldrich | 95 | 284.48 | 53.5 | 2.3 | 1.8 | 197.9 |
| Myristic Acid | 544-63-8 | Alfa Aesar | 99.2 | 228.37 | 53.2 | 2.3 | 1.7 | 192.0 |

4.2 Determination of Eutectic mass ratios

Two approaches are typically used to determine the eutectic composition (X_{eu}) referred to as the eutectic point: the proportioning test and the prediction method [37]. In the proportioning test, a series of specimen with various mass ratios, such as components

A-B (90-10%), *A-B* (80-20%), *A-B* (70-30%), and so forth are prepared, eutectic point is determined by comparing heat flow patterns from DSC of all prepared mixtures with varying quantities of the components. The prediction method identifies the optimum mass ratios for eutectic mixtures by generating phase diagrams for binary mixtures. The phase diagrams are generated by plotting the mass fraction of each component in the eutectic combination against temperature, acquired from the Schrader equation [102].

In the ongoing research, EPCMs are created using mass ratios determined through theoretical calculations, aiming to minimize costs associated with preparation and characterization of 32 EPCMs compared to the proportioning method. The Schrader equation [101–103] formulated for a binary EPCM consisting of component A and component B, is applied in this context.

$$T_m = \left[\frac{1}{T_{o,A}} - \frac{R.lnX_A}{\Delta H_{m,A}}\right]^{-1}$$
(1)

$$T_m = \left[\frac{1}{T_{o,B}} - \frac{R.lnX_B}{\Delta H_{m,B}}\right]^{-1}$$
(2)

where T_m is the melting point of eutectic mixture in K, T_o , A, and T_o , B are the onset melting point in K, X_A , and X_B are the mole fractions, and H_m , A and H_m , B is molar L.H in kJ. kmol⁻¹, of constituent A and, B respectively. Whereas, R is a real gas constant, 8.314 kJ. kmol⁻¹. K⁻¹.

Cp for the liquid and solid phase of the pure fatty acids and polymers used in this study is given in Table. 1. The Cp of the eutectic mixture is calculated by considering Equation 3 for its liquid and solid phase [98,104].

$$Cp_{eu} = \Sigma X_i Cp_i \tag{3}$$

where Cp_{eu} stands for the specific heat capacity of the eutectic mixture and Cp_i for the specific heat capacity of individual component *i*, both expressed in kJ.kg⁻¹.C⁻¹. X_i is the mole fraction of component *i* in the eutectic mixture. Another significant thermal characteristic of PCMs is melting enthalpy. Equation 4 is used to calculate the melting enthalpy of fatty acids-polymers based EPCM [100].

$$H_{eu} = T_{eu} \Sigma [X_i. \frac{H_i}{T_i} + \left\{ X_i (Cp_{li} - Cp_{si}). \frac{ln T_{eu}}{T_l} \right\}]$$
(4)

where H_{eu} is the melting enthalpy of eutectic mixture in kJ.mol⁻¹, and T_{eu} is the eutectic mixture's melting temperature in K, which was calculated using the Schrader equation. H_i is the melting enthalpy of constituent *i* in kJ.mol⁻¹, and X_i is the mole fraction of constituent *i*. The melting temperature of component *i* in the eutectic mixture is represented by T_i , while the specific heat capacity of its liquid and solid phase is represented by Cp_{li} and Cp_{si} , respectively, in kJ.kg⁻¹.C⁻¹.

4.3 **Preparation of EPCMs**

The eutectic PCMs are prepared using two step method; melt blending followed by ultra-sonication [84]. The stepwise description is represented in Figure 4.1. To prepare, 20 g of eutectic mixture initially, measured amount of the respective fatty acids and polymers are added in a beaker. The eutectic composition of each binary combination is predetermined using Schrader equation [37]. Primarily, the pristine materials are combined in a beaker and heated for 60mins at constant temperature of 70°C using a water bath, as shown in Figure 4.1. After uniform melting of the materials in the beaker, the mixture is stirred for 45mins at 600rpms. Homogenization of the mixture is achieved through ultrasonication for 15mins interval. After sonication, the homogenous eutectic mixture is progressively cooled to room temperature for uniform solidification. A similar method is used to prepare other eutectic combinations.



Figure 4. 1: Schematic of Eutectic PCMs preparation.

CHAPTER 5: RESULTS & DISCUSSION

5.1 Development of Eutectic PCMs

5.1.1 Phase Diagrams

Phase diagrams are created based on the results of the Schrader equation for eutectic phase change materials (EPCMs) to determine their eutectic mass ratios and melting temperatures, as depicted in **Figures 5.1-5.9**.



Figure 5. 1: Phase Diagram of PA-PEG2K



Figure 5. 2: Phase Diagram of PA-PEG4K



Figure 5. 3: Phase Diagram of PA-PEG6K



Figure 5. 4: Phase Diagram of SA-PEG2K



Figure 5. 5: Phase Diagram of SA-PEG4K



Figure 5. 6: Phase Diagram of SA-PEG6K



Figure 5. 7: Phase Diagram of MA-PEG2K



Figure 5. 8: Phase Diagram of MA-PEG4K



Figure 5. 9: Phase Diagram of MA-PEG6K

Examining the phase diagrams (refer to Figures 5.1-5.9), we can see that the melting temperature of EPCMs is lower than that of the individual components listed in Table 4.1. We figure out the composition and melting temperature of EPCMs by examining their specific phase diagrams. **Table 5.1** summarizes the properties of EPCMs determined through theoretical calculations.

| EPCMs | Eutectic | Eutectic point | Specific Heat | L.H of fusion | |
|----------|-------------|----------------|----------------------|---------------|-------|
| | composition | | At 70-80°C | At 20-30°C | |
| | | | C _{pliquid} | C_{psolid} | |
| | (wt.%) | (°C) | (J/g. °C) | (J/g. °C) | (J/g) |
| PA-PEG2K | 9.3/90.7 | 48.1 | 2.3 | 1.6 | 169.5 |
| PA-PEG4K | 11.8/88.2 | 54.8 | 2.4 | 1.8 | 189.0 |
| PA-PEG6K | 15.7/84.3 | 57.8 | - | - | - |
| SA-PEG2K | 21.0/79.0 | 46.9 | 2.2 | 1.6 | 170.3 |
| SA-PEG4K | 56.8/43.2 | 52.7 | 2.2 | 1.7 | 194.0 |
| SA-PEG6K | 98.9/1.1 | 53.4 | - | - | - |
| MA-PEG2K | 21.8/78.2 | 46.5 | - | - | - |
| MA-PEG4K | 56.6/43.4 | 52.4 | - | - | - |
| MA-PEG6K | 98.9/1.1 | 53.2 | - | - | - |

Table 5. 1: Theoretical eutectic point derived from phase diagrams and predicted thermal properties of binary EPCMs.

9 samples are prepared using the calculated mass proportions. The thermal analysis of these prepared EPCMs is conducted using DSC, and the thermal properties determined through experiments are analyzed in subsection 5.1.4. Among other binary eutectic PCMs considered in this study, the calculated eutectic point of PA-PEG6K is highest, i.e. 57.8°C. This is because of the larger molecular weight of PEG6K.

5.1.2 Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy Analysis

The chemical composition of prepared eutectic combinations is analyzed using FT-IR. The acquired FT-IR spectra of pure materials PA, PEG2K, SA, PEG4K, MA, PEG6K and eutectic combinations of PA-PEG2K, PA-PEG4K, PA-PEG6K, SA-PEG2K, SA-PEG4K, SA-PEG6K, MA-PEG2K, MA-PEG4K and MA-PEG6K is given in Figure 5.10-5.18. It reveals a recurring pattern in the eutectic spectra, and each spectrum's fingerprint region, located in the bottom-right spot, produces a distinct pattern that corresponds to a specific category of organic molecules. The peaks found at 2910, 2847, 2914, 2848, 2880, 2874, 2843 and 2882cm⁻¹ in the pure PA, PEG2K, SA, PEG4K, MA, PEG6K spectra exhibit the symmetrical and asymmetrical vibrations of the C-H group, respectively. Whereas, the bending vibrations of C=O are denoted by a prominent peak at 1695 and 1689cm⁻¹. However, an occurrence of C-O is indicated by the peaks at 1291, 1298, 1281, 1236, 1279, 1233, 1289, 1278 and 1239cm⁻¹ and the stretched vibrations of the -OH bond seen in the peaks at 938, 940, 951, 953, 934 and 951cm⁻¹. While the peaks at 1096, 1062, 1094, 1056 and 1092cm⁻¹ show the bending vibration of the C-N bond. The deformation vibrations of the -CH₃ groups are related to the medium absorbance peaks at 1464, 1419, 1465, 1428 and 1340, 1458, 1424 and 1339cm⁻¹. Whereas the minor peak at 726, 722, 721 and 839cm⁻¹ denotes –CH₂ groups' rocking vibrations [107–109].



Figure 5. 10: FTIR spectra of pure PCMs (PA, PEG2K) and Eutectic combination (PA-PEG2K)



Figure 5. 11: FTIR spectra of pure PCMs (PA, PEG4K) and Eutectic combination (PA-PEG4K)



Figure 5. 12: FTIR spectra of pure PCMs (PA, PEG6K) and Eutectic combination (PA-PEG6K)



Figure 5. 13: FTIR spectra of pure PCMs (SA, PEG2K) and Eutectic combination (SA-PEG2K)



Figure 5. 14: FTIR spectra of pure PCMs (SA, PEG4K) and Eutectic combination (SA-PEG4K)



Figure 5. 15: FTIR spectra of pure PCMs (SA, PEG6K) and Eutectic combination (SA-PEG6K)



Figure 5. 16: FTIR spectra of pure PCMs (MA, PEG2K) and Eutectic combination (MA-

PEG2K)



Figure 5. 17: FTIR spectra of pure PCMs (MA, PEG4K) and Eutectic combination (MA-

PEG4K)



Figure 5. 18: FTIR spectra of pure PCMs (MA, PEG6K) and Eutectic combination (MA-

PEG6K)

However, in the case of eutectic PA-PEG2K, PA-PEG4K, PA-PEG6K, SA-PEG2K, SA-PEG4K, SA-PEG6K, MA-PEG2K, MA-PEG4K and MA-PEG6K, the absorption peaks at 2878, 2884, 2881, 2853, 2914, 2846, 2845, 2882, 2888, 2854, 2907, 2851, 2916, and 2848cm⁻¹ reflect symmetrical and asymmetrical vibrations of the C-H groups. On the other hand, the vibrations caused by stretching of C=O are indicated by an elevated peak at 1693, and 1694cm⁻¹. The medium absorption peak between 1464, 1468, 1463, 1458, 1462, 1461, 1470, and 1424cm⁻¹ represents the deformation vibrations of the -CH₃ groups, whereas the –CH₂ groups' rocking vibrations are represented by the weak absorbance peak at 728, 722, 712, and 726cm⁻¹. The peak at 1282, 1242, 1283, 1241, 1273, 1287, 1233, 1274, 1235, 1237, and 1289cm⁻¹ shows the presence of C-O, while the peak at 943, 951, 949, 953, 954, 950, 941, and 934cm⁻¹ may show the bending vibrations of the -OH bond. The vibration of the C-N bond can be seen at 1100, 1101, 1094, 1056, 1108, 1068, 1092, 1098, and 1103cm⁻¹. Although, no additional peak is seen in the spectrum, demonstrating

that the eutectic constituents does not interact chemically and no other product is produced during the formation of EPCM [37].

5.1.3 Differential Scanning Calorimeter Analysis

The melting peaks for pure materials (PA, SA, MA, PEG2K, PEG4K, and PEG6K) based on the DSC results are illustrated in **Figures 5.19-5.33.** The melting temperature of PA, SA, MA, PEG2K, PEG4K and PEG6K is 61.3, 53.5, 53.2, 49.4, 56.0 and 59.1°C, respectively, whereas, the L.H of fusion is 214.27, 197.92, 192.05, 182.92, 198.01, and 200.35J/g, respectively. It is evident that the melting temperature of the pure material are in line with the literature [110–112] which validates the accuracy of equipment and purity of PA, SA, MA, PEG2K, PEG4K and PEG6K used in this study.



Figure 5. 19: Heat flow curves of PA



Figure 5. 20: Heat Flow Curve of SA



Figure 5. 21: Heat Flow Curve of MA 43



Figure 5. 22: Heat Flow Curve of PEG2K



Figure 5. 23: Heat Flow Curve of PEG4K



Figure 5. 24: Heat Flow Curve of PEG6K

The DSC-derived melting curves of the eutectic combinations: PA-PEG2K, PA-PEG4K, PA-PEG6K, SA-PEG2K, SA-PEG4K, SA-PEG6K, MA-PEG2K, MA-PEG4K and MA-PEG6K are given in **Figures 5.25-5.33**. Thermal properties of eutectic materials determined from DSC are given in **Table 5.2**, which reveals that PA-PEG2K, PA-PEG4K, PA-PEG6K, SA-PEG6K, SA-PEG6K, SA-PEG6K, SA-PEG6K, MA-PEG2K, MA-PEG4K and MA-PEG6K melt at 46.4, 54.7, 55.5, 46.4, 52.0, 51.9, 43.0, 49.6, and 53.1°C respectively and solidify at 32.4, 37.0, 36.1, 45.4, 51.8, 52.2, 29.3, 48.8, 51.4°C, respectively. However, the L.H of fusion for the melting lies in the range of 185.8-215.7J/g, while for solidification it ranges from 109.3-216.9J/g.



Figure 5. 25: Heat Flow Curve of PA-PEG2K



Figure 5. 26: Heat Flow Curve of PA-PEG4K



Figure 5. 27: Heat Flow Curve of PA-PEG6K



Figure 5. 28: Heat Flow Curve of SA-PEG2K



Figure 5. 29: Heat Flow Curve of SA-PEG4K



Figure 5. 30: Heat Flow Curve of SA-PEG6K







Figure 5. 32: Heat Flow Curve of MA-PEG4K



Figure 5. 33: Heat Flow Curve of MA-PEG6K

| EPCMs | Eutectic | | Me | lting | | | Solidifi | cation | |
|----------|-------------|------|----------------|-------|--------|------|----------|--------|--------|
| | Composition | To | T _p | Te | L.H of | To | Tp | Te | L.H of |
| | | | | | fusion | | | | fusion |
| | (wt.%) | (°C) | (°C) | (°C) | (J/g) | (°C) | (°C) | (°C) | (J/g) |
| PA-PEG2K | 9.30/90.7 | 46.4 | 51.8 | 60.3 | 185.8 | 32.4 | 28.2 | 17.8 | 171.2 |
| PA-PEG4K | 11.8/88.2 | 54.7 | 59.5 | 66.7 | 187.5 | 37.0 | 35.0 | 20.0 | 166.0 |
| PA-PEG6K | 15.7/84.3 | 55.5 | 59.5 | 67.4 | 200.4 | 36.1 | 33.0 | 23.2 | 138.3 |
| SA-PEG2K | 21.0/79.0 | 46.4 | 51.2 | 58.5 | 187.7 | 45.4 | 43.4 | 16.9 | 175.0 |
| SA-PEG4K | 56.8/43.2 | 52.0 | 56.4 | 63.7 | 188.3 | 51.8 | 49.7 | 18.4 | 176.3 |
| SA-PEG6K | 98.9/1.1 | 51.9 | 56.7 | 66.1 | 201.4 | 52.2 | 50.7 | 33.7 | 196.3 |
| MA-PEG2K | 21.8/78.2 | 43.0 | 49.1 | 56.8 | 183.9 | 29.3 | 26.8 | 11.2 | 109.3 |
| MA-PEG4K | 56.6/43.4 | 49.6 | 53.9 | 61.8 | 210.8 | 48.8 | 48.7 | 35.0 | 201.2 |
| MA-PEG6K | 98.9/1.1 | 53.1 | 55.1 | 64.3 | 215.7 | 51.4 | 50.9 | 35.7 | 216.9 |

Table 5. 2: Thermal characteristics of EPCMs as determined by DSC.

A comparison of predicted and measured thermal characteristics of eutectic PCMs is presented in **Table 5.3.** Although the predicted thermal characteristics agree with the measured values. However, the relative difference of 7.5% might be due to the impurities in the PCMs. An absolute difference of 3.5°C is present in the predicted and measured M.T of MA-PEG2K.

| Eutectic | Predicted | Measured | Absolute | Relative | Predicted | Measured | Absolute | Relative |
|----------|-----------|----------|------------|------------|-----------|----------|------------|---------------|
| PCMs | M. T | М. Т | Difference | Difference | L.H of | L.H of | Difference | Difference in |
| | | | in M. T | in M. T | fusion | fusion | in L.H | L.H |
| | (°C) | (°C) | (°C) | (%) | (J/g) | (J/g) | | (%) |
| PA-PEG2K | 48.1 | 46.4 | 1.7 | 3.5 | 169.5 | 185.8 | 16.3 | 9.6 |
| PA-PEG4K | 54.8 | 54.7 | 0.1 | 0.1 | 189.0 | 187.5 | 1.5 | 0.7 |
| PA-PEG6K | 57.8 | 55.5 | 2.3 | 3.9 | 198.7 | 200.4 | 1.7 | 0.8 |
| SA-PEG2K | 46.9 | 46.4 | 0.5 | 1.0 | 170.3 | 187.7 | 17.4 | 10.2 |
| SA-PEG4K | 52.7 | 52.0 | 0.7 | 1.3 | 194.3 | 188.3 | 6 | 3.0 |
| SA-PEG6K | 53.4 | 51.9 | 1.5 | 2.8 | 197.5 | 201.4 | 3.9 | 1.9 |
| MA-PEG2K | 46.5 | 43.0 | 3.5 | 7.5 | 165.9 | 183.9 | 18.0 | 10.8 |
| MA-PEG4K | 52.4 | 49.6 | 2.8 | 5.3 | 188.9 | 210.8 | 21.9 | 11.5 |
| MA-PEG6K | 53.2 | 53.1 | 0.1 | 0.1 | 192.0 | 215.7 | 23.7 | 12.3 |

Table 5. 3: Comparison of predicted and measured thermal characteristics of eutectic PCMs.

5.1.3 Specific Heat Capacity Analysis

Cp relates to other thermophysical characteristics, such as thermal diffusivity, and is an essential property for designing the storage capacity of LHTES systems. Due to the restricted availability of this data, design engineers are forced to rely on discrete assumptions and assumed values, which can have a detrimental effect on the LHTES system's performance [37].

Measured Cp values of pure PCMs and prepared EPCMs are shown in **Figure 5.34** (a-b). However, the initial abrupt rise in the Cp value of pure PCMs demonstrates heat absorption and a subsequent phase transition from solid to liquid during the melting cycle.

However, this tendency has been seen due to molecular collisions' rise in kinetic energy [37].

In both phases, Cp values of pure PCMs (PA, SA, PEG2K and PEG4K) represented in **Figure 5.34(a)** are in line with the literature [19,63-64]. In addition, Cp values of eutectic PCMs (PA-PEG2K, PA-PEG4K, SA-PEG2K and SA-PEG4K) for solid phase are 1.6, 1.8, 1.6 and 1.7 J/g.°C respectively. While, for liquid phase the Cp values are 2.3, 2.4, 2.2 and 2.2 J/g.°C (shown in **Figure 5.34(b)**). It is observed that Cp values drastically rise during the phase transformation, since the Cp deals with sensible heat, therefore, it is not taken into account during the phase transition of PCMs. However, compared to the liquid phase, the solid phase exhibits a stronger increase in the Cp with increasing temperature due to the molecules' limited motion and comparatively low entropy in solids [37].



Figure 5. 34: (a) Specific Heat Capacity of Pure PCMs(b) Specific Heat Capacity of EPCMs

5.1.4 Thermal Gravimetric Analysis

The TGA findings reveal a decline in weight with rising temperature, as depicted in **Figure 5.35-Figure 5.37.** The eutectic samples were heated at a rate of 10°C per minute, ranging from 25 to 300°C. **Figure 5.35-5.37** shows that the eutectic samples remain intact, with minimal weight loss noticeable when the temperature is below 195°C. This suggests a high level of stability for EPCMs within the operational temperature range. EPCMs began to degrade at about 200°C and initial loss was mostly due to the evaporation of the PCMs. The rate of weight loss increased rapidly above 210°C. The weight losses of the EPCMs at temperatures of 296°C, 296.5°C, 297°C, and 295.6°C were 9.6%, 10.9%, 15.5%, 19.0%, 51.1%, 97.0%, 21.1%, 58.7%, and 97.8% respectively. About 300°C was the point at which the EPCMs completely degraded; at this temperature, 90.4%, 89.1%, 84.5%, 81.0%, 48.9%, 3.0%, 78.9%, 41.3%, and 2.2% of the residue remained.



Figure 5. 35: TGA of PA-PEG2K, PA-PEG4K, and PA-PEG6K







Figure 5. 37: TGA of MA-PEG2K, MA-PEG4K, and MA-PEG6K

| Materials | Temperature Range (°C) | | Weight Loss (%) | Residue Left (%) | |
|-----------|------------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|------------------|------|
| | Overall | 1 st Stage | 2 nd Stage | | |
| PA/PEG2K | 25-300 | 187.9 | 296.0 | 9.6 | 90.4 |
| PA/PEG4K | 25-300 | 178.3 | 296.5 | 10.9 | 89.1 |
| PA/PEG6K | 25-300 | 179.5 | 294.6 | 15.5 | 84.5 |
| SA/PEG2K | 25-300 | 297.0 | 297.0 | 19.0 | 81.0 |
| SA/PEG4K | 25-300 | 295.6 | 295.6 | 51.1 | 48.9 |
| SA/PEG6K | 25-300 | 188.8 | 262.8 | 97.0 | 3.0 |
| MA/PEG2K | 25-300 | 160.1 | 246.9 | 21.1 | 78.9 |
| MA/PEG4K | 25-300 | 165.9 | 251.9 | 58.7 | 41.3 |
| MA/PEG6K | 25-300 | 161.2 | 226.7 | 97.8 | 2.2 |

Table 5. 4: Thermal Stability of EPCMs as determined by TGA.

5.1.5 Thermal Conductivity Analysis (DTC)

PCMs absorb or release heat during melting or solidification. However, when the PCM melts and solidifies, the rate at which thermal energy is stored and released is determined by its thermal conductivity [113]. Whereas, pure PCMs have low thermal conductivity, which restricts their applications and lowers the rate at which heat may be stored and released. A PCM with higher thermal conductivity speeds up heat transmission during the melting and solidification processes and reduces the time required for these processes. [113]

Measured thermal conductivity values of pure and EPCMs are shown in **Figure.5.38**. The thermal conductivity of pure materials (PA, SA, PEG2K and PEG4K) is 0.367, 0.325, 0.390 and 0.463W/mK respectively. Whereas the thermal conductivity of EPCMs (PA-PEG2K, PA-PEG4K, SA-PEG2K and SA-PEG4K) is 0.423, 0.389, 0.347, and 0.350W/mK. The results revealed that the thermal conductivity of binary eutectic PA-PEG2K increased from 0.367W/mK for PA and 0.390W/mK for PEG2K to 0.423W/mK. Whereas, in the case of PA-PEG4K, SA-PEG2K and SA-PEG4K, the enhancement in thermal conductivity is slightly lower than pure PEG2K and PEG4K, but higher than pure PA and SA.



Figure 5. 38: Thermal Conductivity of EPCMs

The comparison of calculated and observed thermal conductivity of EPCMs is presented in **Table.5.5.** Although the calculated thermal conductivity aligns with the experimental values. However, the relative difference of 13.7% might be due to the impurities in the PCMs.

|--|

| Materials | Predicted | Measured | Absolute | Relative |
|-----------|--------------|--------------|------------|------------|
| | Thermal | Thermal | Difference | Difference |
| | Conductivity | Conductivity | | |
| | | | | |
| | (W/mk) | (W/mK) | (W/mK) | (%) |
| PA/PEG2K | 0.387 | 0.423 | 0.036 | 9.3 |
| PA/PEG4K | 0.451 | 0.389 | 0.062 | 13.7 |
| PA/PEG6K | 0.381 | 0.384 | 0.003 | 0.7 |
| SA/PEG2K | 0.376 | 0.347 | 0.029 | 7.7 |
| SA/PEG4K | 0.384 | 0.350 | 0.034 | 8.8 |
| SA/PEG6K | 0.325 | 0.369 | 0.044 | 13.5 |
| MA/PEG2K | 0.386 | 0.387 | 0.001 | 0.2 |
| MA/PEG4K | 0.413 | 0.389 | 0.024 | 5.8 |
| MA/PEG6K | 0.376 | 0.352 | 0.024 | 6.3 |
| | | | | |
5.1.6 Performance Characteristics Analysis

The performance characteristics of the prepared fatty acids-polymers based EPCMs in this study are compared with the litearture as given in Table 5.6. When compared to other EPCMs described in the literature, binary fatty acids-polymers EPCMs have the most promising thermal properties.

| Eutectic PCMs | Composition | Thermal characteristics | | Application Areas | Ref |
|---------------|-------------|-------------------------|--------|-------------------|-------|
| | | M.T | L.H of | | |
| _ | | | fusion | | |
| | (wt.%) | (°C) | (J/g) | | |
| SA-PA | 37.01/62.9 | 56.2 | 204.7 | DHW, SSH | [54] |
| SA-PA | 36.8/63.2 | 55.0 | 180 | DHW, SSH | [21] |
| PA-PEG6K | 15.7/84.3 | 55.5 | 200.4 | DHW,SSH | This |
| | | | | | study |
| SA-PEG6K | 98.9/1.1 | 51.9 | 201.4 | DHW,SSH | This |
| | | | | | study |
| MA-PEG6K | 98.9/1.1 | 53.1 | 215.7 | DHW,SSH | This |
| | | | | | study |
| PA-PEG4K | 11.8/88.2 | 54.7 | 187.5 | DHW, SSH | This |
| | | | | | study |
| SA-PEG4K | 56.8/43.2 | 52.0 | 188.3 | DHW, SSH | This |
| | | | | | study |
| MA-PEG4K | 56.6/43.4 | 49.6 | 210.8 | DHW | This |
| | | | | | study |
| PA-PEG2K | 9.3/90.7 | 46.4 | 185.8 | DHW | This |
| | | | | | study |
| SA-PEG2K | 21.0/79.0 | 46.4 | 187.7 | DHW | This |
| | | | | | study |
| MA-PEG2K | 21.8/78.2 | 43.0 | 183.9 | DHW | This |
| | | | | | Study |

Table 5. 6: Comparison of performance characteristics of EPCMs.

As shown in Figure 5.39(a), the M.T of prepared EPCMs: PA-PEG2K, PA-PEG4K, PA-PEG6K, SA-PEG2K, SA-PEG4K, SA-PEG6K, MA-PEG2K, MA-PEG4K and MA-PEG6K ranges from 43.0 to 55.5°C and their melting enthalpy ranges from 183.9 to 215.7J/g making them appropriate for applications such as DHW and SSH. However, Cp of EPCMS in liquid phase ranges from 2.2 to 2.4 J·g⁻¹.°C⁻¹ and for solid phase it ranges from 1.6 to 1.8 J·g⁻¹.°C⁻¹, as shown in Figure 5.39(b). The developed eutectic PCMs are applicable in TESS, incorporating renewable energy sources like solar energy for effective operation.



Figure 5. 39: Fatty acid-polymers based PCMs and EPCMs (a) Melting Temperature and Latent

heat (b) Specific Heat Capacity

CHAPTER 6: CONCLUSION & FUTURE RECOMMENDATIONS

6.1 Conclusion

This research aims to develop EPCMs using a combination of fatty acids and polymers to address the needs of thermal energy storage applications. Specifically, palmitic acid, stearic acid, myristic acid, polyethylene glycol 2K, polyethylene glycol 4K and polyethylene glycol 6K have been employed. Nine eutectic PCMs PA-PEG2K, PA-PEG4K, PA-PEG6K, SA-PEG2K, SA-PEG4K, SA-PEG6K, MA-PEG2K, MA-PEG4K, and MA-PEG6K were prepared. Key findings include:

- Melting Points: The EPCMs exhibited melting points between 43.0°C and 55.5°C.
- Latent Heat: The latent heat of fusion ranged from 183.9 J/g to 215.7 J/g.
- PA-PEG4K and MA-PEG6K showed minimal deviation (0.1%) between predicted and measured melting temperatures.
- **High Latent Heat:** PA-PEG4K and MA-PEG6K had latent heats of 187.5 J/g and 215.7 J/g, respectively.
- FTIR analysis confirmed no significant chemical changes in the structure of the pure PCMs.
- Thermal Stability: TGA results showed promising thermal stability for the binary eutectic combinations.
- Thermal Conductivity:
 - PA-PEG2K showed an enhanced thermal conductivity of 0.423 W/m·K, compared to 0.367 W/m·K for PA and 0.390 W/m·K for PEG2K.

- Thermal conductivity improvements for PA-PEG4K, SA-PEG2K, and SA-PEG4K were lower than pure PEG2K and PEG4K but higher than pure PA and SA.
- Applications: Given their attributes, these EPCMs exhibit commendable thermal energy storage properties, making them suitable for applications such as solar thermal space heating, domestic water heating systems, and thermal management in building structures..

6.2 Future Recommendations

An examination of the thermal stability of Enhanced Phase Change Materials (EPCMs) is essential for determining the operational safety threshold temperature of PCMs. The incorporation of various nanomaterial additives can augment the thermal conductivity of EPCMs. Structural analysis of the nanomaterial addition in EPCMs, utilizing techniques such as SEM, XRD, and FT-IR, can provide insights into its impact on thermophysical properties. These EPCMs may be integrated into experimental setups to assess operational capabilities, including response time and other performance indicators. Furthermore, the development of multicomponent EPCMs can be pursued, using the identified EPCMs as parent materials, resulting in enhanced operating windows concerning onset melting and end-set melting temperatures. Additionally, research on the corrosion resistance of materials commonly considered for Thermal Energy Storage (TES) tank construction can contribute valuable insights.

Thermal energy storage using PCMs holds great promise for addressing energy fluctuation problems and improving energy efficiency in various applications, including passive building and cold thermal energy storage. Future recommendations for the use of PCMs in TESS include continued research and development to enhance the thermal properties and stability of PCMs, as well as their compatibility with different applications. Additionally, efforts to optimize the integration of PCM-based TESS in buildings and cooling applications, and to overcome technical challenges, are crucial for the widespread adoption of this technology. PCMs for TES applications are the subject of ongoing research

and special issues, which show an increasing interest and investment in this sector and emphasize the significance of additional developments and improvements in the use of PCMs for TES.

REFERENCES

- R. Swenson, "The solarevolution: Much more with way less, right now The disruptive shift to renewables," *Energies*, vol. 9, no. 9, 2016, doi: 10.3390/en9090676.
- I. Capellán-Pérez, M. Mediavilla, C. de Castro, Ó. Carpintero, and L. J. Miguel, "More growth? An unfeasible option to overcome critical energy constraints and climate change," *Sustain. Sci.*, vol. 10, no. 3, pp. 397–411, 2015, doi: 10.1007/s11625-015-0299-3.
- [3] M. M. Rafique and S. Rehman, "National energy scenario of Pakistan Current status, future alternatives, and institutional infrastructure: An overview," *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.*, vol. 69, no. October 2016, pp. 156–167, 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.rser.2016.11.057.
- [4] K. M. Powell *et al.*, "Thermal energy storage to minimize cost and improve efficiency of a polygeneration district energy system in a real-time electricity market," *Energy*, vol. 113, pp. 52–63, 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.energy.2016.07.009.
- [5] I. Sarbu and C. Sebarchievici, "A comprehensive review of thermal energy storage," Sustain., vol. 10, no. 1, 2018, doi: 10.3390/su10010191.
- [6] M. C. Browne, B. Norton, and S. J. McCormack, "Heat retention of a photovoltaic/thermal collector with PCM," *Sol. Energy*, vol. 133, pp. 533–548, 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.solener.2016.04.024.
- M. J. Huang, P. C. Eames, and B. Norton, "Phase change materials for limiting temperature rise in building integrated photovoltaics," *Sol. Energy*, vol. 80, no. 9, pp. 1121–1130, 2006, doi: 10.1016/j.solener.2005.10.006.
- [8] M. Aneke and M. Wang, "Energy storage technologies and real life applications A state of the art review," *Appl. Energy*, vol. 179, pp. 350–377, 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.apenergy.2016.06.097.

- [9] H. Nazir *et al.*, "Recent developments in phase change materials for energy storage applications: A review," *Int. J. Heat Mass Transf.*, vol. 129, pp. 491–523, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.ijheatmasstransfer.2018.09.126.
- [10] K. Y. Leong, M. R. Abdul Rahman, and B. A. Gurunathan, "Nano-enhanced phase change materials: A review of thermo-physical properties, applications and challenges," *J. Energy Storage*, vol. 21, no. October 2018, pp. 18–31, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.est.2018.11.008.
- [11] C. Barreneche, M. E. Navarro, L. F. Cabeza, and A. I. Fernández, "New database to select phase change materials: Chemical nature, properties, and applications," J. *Energy Storage*, vol. 3, pp. 18–24, 2015, doi: 10.1016/j.est.2015.08.003.
- [12] A. J. Carrillo, D. P. Serrano, P. Pizarro, and J. M. Coronado, "Improving the thermochemical energy storage performance of the Mn2O3/Mn3O4 redox couple by the incorporation of iron," *ChemSusChem*, vol. 8, no. 11, pp. 1947–1954, 2015, doi: 10.1002/cssc.201500148.
- [13] H. Taimoor, A. Awan, L. Kumar, W. P. Wong, and R. Walvekar, "Recent Progress and Challenges in MXene-Based Phase Change," 2023.
- [14] L. Liu, J. Niu, and J. Wu, "Thermal Energy Storage and Thermal Management Applications : A Review," 2022.
- [15] E. Rodriguez-Ubinas, L. Ruiz-Valero, S. Vega, and J. Neila, "Applications of Phase Change Material in highly energy-efficient houses," *Energy Build.*, vol. 50, pp. 49– 62, 2012, doi: 10.1016/j.enbuild.2012.03.018.
- [16] S. E. Kalnæs and B. P. Jelle, "Phase change materials and products for building applications: A state-of-the-art review and future research opportunities," *Energy Build.*, vol. 94, no. 7491, pp. 150–176, 2015, doi: 10.1016/j.enbuild.2015.02.023.
- [17] G. Diarce, I. Gandarias, Campos-Celador, A. García-Romero, and U. J. Griesser, "Eutectic mixtures of sugar alcohols for thermal energy storage in the 50-90°C temperature range," *Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cells*, vol. 134, pp. 215–226, 2015, doi:

10.1016/j.solmat.2014.11.050.

- [18] J. Q. Zhong, A. T. Fragoso, A. J. Wells, and J. S. Wettlaufer, *Finite-sample-size effects on convection in mushy layers*, vol. 704. 2012. doi: 10.1017/jfm.2012.219.
- [19] Y. Yuan, N. Zhang, W. Tao, X. Cao, and Y. He, "Fatty acids as phase change materials: A review," *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.*, vol. 29, pp. 482–498, 2014, doi: 10.1016/j.rser.2013.08.107.
- [20] A. Karaipekli, A. Sari, and K. Kaygusuz, "Thermal properties and long-term reliability of capric acid/lauric acid and capric acid/myristic acid mixtures for thermal energy storage," *Energy Sources, Part A Recover. Util. Environ. Eff.*, vol. 30, no. 13, pp. 1248–1258, 2008, doi: 10.1080/15567030701258295.
- [21] P. Gallart-Sirvent *et al.*, "Fatty acid eutectic mixtures and derivatives from non-edible animal fat as phase change materials," *RSC Adv.*, vol. 7, no. 39, pp. 24133–24139, 2017, doi: 10.1039/c7ra03845c.
- [22] M. K. Rathod and J. Banerjee, "Thermal stability of phase change materials used in latent heat energy storage systems: A review," *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.*, vol. 18, pp. 246–258, 2013, doi: 10.1016/j.rser.2012.10.022.
- [23] A. Sari, "Eutectic mixtures of some fatty acids for low temperature solar heating applications: Thermal properties and thermal reliability," *Appl. Therm. Eng.*, vol. 25, no. 14–15, pp. 2100–2107, 2005, doi: 10.1016/j.applthermaleng.2005.01.010.
- [24] S. Keleş, K. Kaygusuz, and A. Sari, "Lauric and myristic acids eutectic mixture as phase change material for low-temperature heating applications," *Int. J. Energy Res.*, vol. 29, no. 9, pp. 857–870, 2005, doi: 10.1002/er.1111.
- [25] S. Kahwaji, M. B. Johnson, A. C. Kheirabadi, D. Groulx, and M. A. White, "Fatty acids and related phase change materials for reliable thermal energy storage at moderate temperatures," *Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cells*, vol. 167, no. January, pp. 109–120, 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.solmat.2017.03.038.

- [26] M. M. Islam, A. K. Pandey, M. Hasanuzzaman, and N. A. Rahim, "Recent progresses and achievements in photovoltaic-phase change material technology: A review with special treatment on photovoltaic thermal-phase change material systems," *Energy Convers. Manag.*, vol. 126, pp. 177–204, 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.enconman.2016.07.075.
- [27] S. Riffat, B. Mempouo, and W. Fang, "Phase change material developments: a review," *Int. J. Ambient Energy*, vol. 36, no. 3, pp. 102–115, 2015, doi: 10.1080/01430750.2013.823106.
- [28] M. Kenisarin and K. Mahkamov, "Passive thermal control in residential buildings using phase change materials," *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.*, vol. 55, pp. 371–398, 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.rser.2015.10.128.
- [29] H. Fauzi, H. S. C. Metselaar, T. M. I. Mahlia, M. Silakhori, and H. C. Ong, "Thermal characteristic reliability of fatty acid binary mixtures as phase change materials (PCMs) for thermal energy storage applications," *Appl. Therm. Eng.*, vol. 80, pp. 127–131, 2015, doi: 10.1016/j.applthermaleng.2015.01.047.
- [30] H. Wei and X. Li, "Preparation and characterization of a lauric-myristic-stearic acid/Al2O3-loaded expanded vermiculite composite phase change material with enhanced thermal conductivity," *Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cells*, vol. 166, no. January, pp. 1–8, 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.solmat.2017.03.003.
- [31] W. Su, J. Darkwa, and G. Kokogiannakis, "Review of solid-liquid phase change materials and their encapsulation technologies," *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.*, vol. 48, pp. 373–391, 2015, doi: 10.1016/j.rser.2015.04.044.
- [32] Y. Tang, G. Alva, X. Huang, D. Su, L. Liu, and G. Fang, "Thermal properties and morphologies of MA-SA eutectics/CNTs as composite PCMs in thermal energy storage," *Energy Build.*, vol. 127, pp. 603–610, 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.enbuild.2016.06.031.
- [33] S. N. Gunasekara, V. Martin, and J. N. Chiu, "Phase equilibrium in the design of

phase change materials for thermal energy storage: State-of-the-art," *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.*, vol. 73, no. December 2016, pp. 558–581, 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.rser.2017.01.108.

- [34] A. Sari, H. Sari, and A. Önal, "Thermal properties and thermal reliability of eutectic mixtures of some fatty acids as latent heat storage materials," *Energy Convers. Manag.*, vol. 45, no. 3, pp. 365–376, 2004, doi: 10.1016/S0196-8904(03)00154-7.
- [35] M. Iten and S. Liu, "A work procedure of utilising PCMs as thermal storage systems based on air-TES systems," *Energy Convers. Manag.*, vol. 77, pp. 608–627, 2014, doi: 10.1016/j.enconman.2013.10.012.
- [36] K. Pielichowska and K. Pielichowski, "Phase change materials for thermal energy storage," *Prog. Mater. Sci.*, vol. 65, pp. 67–123, 2014, doi: 10.1016/j.pmatsci.2014.03.005.
- [37] H. Nazir, M. Batool, M. Ali, and A. M. Kannan, "Fatty acids based eutectic phase change system for thermal energy storage applications," *Appl. Therm. Eng.*, vol. 142, no. June, pp. 466–475, 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.applthermaleng.2018.07.025.
- [38] R. K. Sharma, P. Ganesan, V. V Tyagi, H. S. C. Metselaar, and S. C. Sandaran, "Developments in organic solid – liquid phase change materials and their applications in thermal energy storage," *Energy Convers. Manag.*, vol. 95, pp. 193– 228, 2015, doi: 10.1016/j.enconman.2015.01.084.
- [39] N. Sarier and E. Onder, "Organic phase change materials and their textile applications: An overview," *Thermochim. Acta*, vol. 540, pp. 7–60, 2012, doi: 10.1016/j.tca.2012.04.013.
- [40] A. Hoshi, D. R. Mills, A. Bittar, and T. S. Saitoh, "Screening of high melting point phase change materials (PCM) in solar thermal concentrating technology based on CLFR," *Sol. Energy*, vol. 79, no. 3, pp. 332–339, 2005, doi: 10.1016/j.solener.2004.04.023.
- [41] T. Laser, "Zu W. Hausotter: Fibromyalgie--ein entbehrlicher Krankheitsbegriff?,"

Versicherungsmedizin, vol. 50, no. 4, pp. 154–156, 1998.

- [42] J. Pereira da Cunha and P. Eames, "Thermal energy storage for low and medium temperature applications using phase change materials - A review," *Appl. Energy*, vol. 177, pp. 227–238, 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.apenergy.2016.05.097.
- [43] A. Sharma, V. V. Tyagi, C. R. Chen, and D. Buddhi, "Review on thermal energy storage with phase change materials and applications," *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.*, vol. 13, no. 2, pp. 318–345, 2009, doi: 10.1016/j.rser.2007.10.005.
- [44] N. R. Jankowski and F. P. McCluskey, "A review of phase change materials for vehicle component thermal buffering," *Appl. Energy*, vol. 113, pp. 1525–1561, 2014, doi: 10.1016/j.apenergy.2013.08.026.
- [45] S. A. Mohamed *et al.*, "A review on current status and challenges of inorganic phase change materials for thermal energy storage systems," *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.*, vol. 70, no. December 2016, pp. 1072–1089, 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.rser.2016.12.012.
- [46] S. Pincemin, R. Olives, X. Py, and M. Christ, "Highly conductive composites made of phase change materials and graphite for thermal storage," *Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cells*, vol. 92, no. 6, pp. 603–613, 2008, doi: 10.1016/j.solmat.2007.11.010.
- [47] B. Xu, P. Li, and C. Chan, "Application of phase change materials for thermal energy storage in concentrated solar thermal power plants: A review to recent developments," *Appl. Energy*, vol. 160, pp. 286–307, 2015, doi: 10.1016/j.apenergy.2015.09.016.
- [48] F. Agyenim, N. Hewitt, P. Eames, and M. Smyth, "A review of materials, heat transfer and phase change problem formulation for latent heat thermal energy storage systems (LHTESS)," *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.*, vol. 14, no. 2, pp. 615– 628, 2010, doi: 10.1016/j.rser.2009.10.015.
- [49] Z. X. Gong and A. S. Mujumdar, "Finite-element analysis of cyclic heat transfer in a shell-and-tube latent heat energy storage exchanger," *Appl. Therm. Eng.*, vol. 17, no. 6, pp. 583–591, 1997, doi: 10.1016/s1359-4311(96)00054-3.

- [50] S. Kahwaji, M. B. Johnson, A. C. Kheirabadi, D. Groulx, and M. A. White, "Stable, low-cost phase change material for building applications: The eutectic mixture of decanoic acid and tetradecanoic acid," *Appl. Energy*, vol. 168, pp. 457–464, 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.apenergy.2016.01.115.
- [51] S. Kahwaji, M. B. Johnson, A. C. Kheirabadi, D. Groulx, and M. A. White, "Fatty acids and related phase change materials for reliable thermal energy storage at moderate temperatures," *Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cells*, vol. 167, no. March, pp. 109–120, 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.solmat.2017.03.038.
- [52] S. Chu and A. Majumdar, "Opportunities and challenges for a sustainable energy future," *Nature*, vol. 488, no. 7411, pp. 294–303, 2012, doi: 10.1038/nature11475.
- [53] H. Wei and X. Li, "Preparation and characterization of a lauric-myristic-stearic acid/Al2O3-loaded expanded vermiculite composite phase change material with enhanced thermal conductivity," *Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cells*, vol. 166, no. August 2016, pp. 1–8, 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.solmat.2017.03.003.
- [54] H. Ke, "Phase diagrams, eutectic mass ratios and thermal energy storage properties of multiple fatty acid eutectics as novel solid-liquid phase change materials for storage and retrieval of thermal energy," *Appl. Therm. Eng.*, vol. 113, pp. 1319– 1331, 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.applthermaleng.2016.11.158.
- [55] D. Zhou, S. Xiao, X. Xiao, and Y. Liu, "Preparation, Phase Diagrams and Characterization of Fatty Acids Binary Eutectic Mixtures for Latent Heat Thermal Energy Storage," *Separations*, vol. 10, no. 1, p. 49, 2023, doi: 10.3390/separations10010049.
- [56] A. Sari, "Eutectic mixtures of some fatty acids for latent heat storage: Thermal properties and thermal reliability with respect to thermal cycling," *Energy Convers. Manag.*, vol. 47, no. 9–10, pp. 1207–1221, 2006, doi: 10.1016/j.enconman.2005.07.005.
- [57] Y. Kou et al., "Thermal analysis and heat capacity study of polyethylene glycol

(PEG) phase change materials for thermal energy storage applications," *J. Chem. Thermodyn.*, vol. 128, pp. 259–274, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.jct.2018.08.031.

- [58] J. Tang *et al.*, "Highly porous carbons derived from MOFs for shape-stabilized phase change materials with high storage capacity and thermal conductivity," *RSC Adv.*, vol. 6, no. 46, pp. 40106–40114, 2016, doi: 10.1039/c6ra04059d.
- [59] Y. Fang, H. Kang, W. Wang, H. Liu, and X. Gao, "Study on polyethylene glycol/epoxy resin composite as a form-stable phase change material," *Energy Convers. Manag.*, vol. 51, no. 12, pp. 2757–2761, 2010, doi: 10.1016/j.enconman.2010.06.012.
- [60] R. K. Sharma, P. Ganesan, and V. V. Tyagi, "Long-term thermal and chemical reliability study of different organic phase change materials for thermal energy storage applications," *J. Therm. Anal. Calorim.*, vol. 124, no. 3, pp. 1357–1366, 2016, doi: 10.1007/s10973-016-5281-5.
- [61] Y. Cai *et al.*, "Preparation, morphology and thermal properties of electrospun fatty acid eutectics/polyethylene terephthalate form-stable phase change ultrafine composite fibers for thermal energy storage," *Energy Convers. Manag.*, vol. 64, pp. 245–255, 2012, doi: 10.1016/j.enconman.2012.04.018.
- [62] S. Harish, D. Orejon, Y. Takata, and M. Kohno, "Thermal conductivity enhancement of lauric acid phase change nanocomposite with graphene nanoplatelets," *Appl. Therm. Eng.*, vol. 80, pp. 205–211, 2015, doi: 10.1016/j.applthermaleng.2015.01.056.
- [63] F. Tang, L. Cao, and G. Fang, "Preparation and thermal properties of stearic acid/titanium dioxide composites as shape-stabilized phase change materials for building thermal energy storage," *Energy Build.*, vol. 80, pp. 352–357, 2014, doi: 10.1016/j.enbuild.2014.05.030.
- [64] M. Silakhori, H. Fauzi, M. R. Mahmoudian, H. S. C. Metselaar, T. M. I. Mahlia, andH. M. Khanlou, "Preparation and thermal properties of form-stable phase change

materials composed of palmitic acid/polypyrrole/graphene nanoplatelets," *Energy Build.*, vol. 99, pp. 189–195, 2015, doi: 10.1016/j.enbuild.2015.04.042.

- [65] J. G. Dunn, H. G. Smith, and R. L. Willix, "The supercooling of acetamide," *Thermochim. Acta*, vol. 80, no. 2, pp. 343–353, 1984, doi: 10.1016/0040-6031(84)87213-5.
- [66] W. Riemenschneider, H. Ag, and F. Republic, "Oxalic Acid," pp. 5–6, 2005.
- [67] E. S. B. V, "The thermal behaviour atmospheres of dicarboxylic acids in various," vol. 232, pp. 195–203, 1994.
- [68] F. Republic, F. Republic, F. Republic, and F. Republic, "Maleic and Fumaric Acids," 2012, doi: 10.1002/14356007.a16.
- [69] T. Hasl and I. Jiricek, "The prediction of heat storage properties by the study of structural effect on organic phase change materials," vol. 46, pp. 301–309, 2014, doi: 10.1016/j.egypro.2014.01.186.
- [70] D. Haillot, T. Bauer, U. Kröner, and R. Tamme, "Thermal analysis of phase change materials in the temperature range 120-150 °c," *Thermochim. Acta*, vol. 513, no. 1–2, pp. 49–59, 2011, doi: 10.1016/j.tca.2010.11.011.
- [71] P. E. M. L. Orz *et al.*, "Phthalic Acid and Derivatives," 2012, doi: 10.1002/14356007.a20.
- [72] L. Aspects, "Benzoic Acid and Derivatives," vol. 60, 2012, doi: 10.1002/14356007.a03.
- [73] Z. Zhang, Y. Yuan, N. Zhang, and X. Cao, "Experimental investigation on thermophysical properties of capric acid e lauric acid phase change slurries for thermal storage system," *Energy*, vol. 90, pp. 359–368, 2015, doi: 10.1016/j.energy.2015.06.129.
- [74] G. K. Bama, R. Anitha, and K. Ramachandran, "On the thermal properties of aqueous solution of D-mannitol," vol. 9759, 2010, doi:

10.1080/10589750902994407.

- [75] G. Peiro, A. Gil, E. Oro, M. Salmero, and L. F. Cabeza, "Experimental analysis of hydroquinone used as phase change material (PCM) to be applied in solar cooling refrigeration ' rimentale de 1 ' hydroquinone utilise ' e comme Analyse expe ' riau a ' changement de phase dans les applications de mate refroidiss," vol. 9, pp. 1–9, 2013, doi: 10.1016/j.ijrefrig.2013.05.013.
- [76] F. C. Porisini, "SALT HYDRATES USED FOR LATENT HEAT STORAGE :," vol. 41, no. 2, pp. 193–197, 1988.
- [77] M. Hadjieva, R. Stoykov, and T. Filipova, "Composite salt-hydrate concrete system for building energy storage," vol. 19, pp. 111–115, 2000.
- [78] B. Sandnes and J. Rekstad, "Supercooling salt hydrates: Stored enthalpy as a function of temperature," vol. 80, pp. 616–625, 2006, doi: 10.1016/j.solener.2004.11.014.
- [79] J. Berg, M. Dannemand, W. Kong, J. Fan, and S. Furbo, "Thermal conductivity enhancement of sodium acetate trihydrate by adding graphite powder and the effect on stability of supercooling," *Energy Procedia*, vol. 70, pp. 249–256, 2015, doi: 10.1016/j.egypro.2015.02.121.
- [80] P. Patnaik and D. Ph, Handbook of Inorganic Chemicals.
- [81] A. Lane, "Phase change materials for energy storage nucleation to prevent supercooling," vol. 7, pp. 135–160, 1992.
- [82] A. Karaipekli, A. Sari, and K. Kaygusuz, "Energy Sources, Part A Thermal Properties and Long-term Reliability of Capric Acid / Lauric Acid and Capric Acid / Myristic Acid Mixtures for Thermal Energy Storage Thermal Properties and Longterm Reliability of Capric Acid / Lauric Acid and Capric Acid," vol. 7036, no. May, 2008, doi: 10.1080/15567030701258295.
- [83] K. Kant, A. Shukla, and A. Sharma, "Ternary mixture of fatty acids as phase change

materials for thermal energy storage applications," *Energy Reports*, vol. 2, pp. 274–279, 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.egyr.2016.10.002.

- [84] P. Zhao, Q. Yue, H. He, B. Gao, Y. Wang, and Q. Li, "Study on phase diagram of fatty acids mixtures to determine eutectic temperatures and the corresponding mixing proportions," *Appl. Energy*, vol. 115, pp. 483–490, 2014, doi: 10.1016/j.apenergy.2013.10.048.
- [85] J. Pereira and P. Eames, "Thermal energy storage for low and medium temperature applications using phase change materials – A review," *Appl. Energy*, vol. 177, pp. 227–238, 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.apenergy.2016.05.097.
- [86] S. A. Mohamed *et al.*, "A review on current status and challenges of inorganic phase change materials for thermal energy storage systems," vol. 70, no. February 2016, pp. 1072–1089, 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.rser.2016.12.012.
- [87] P. Zhang, F. Ma, and X. Xiao, "Thermal energy storage and retrieval characteristics of a molten-salt latent heat thermal energy storage system," vol. 173, pp. 255–271, 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.apenergy.2016.04.012.
- [88] R. M. Al, M. Sharif, and J. M. Khodadadi, "International Journal of Heat and Mass Transfer Experimental determination of temperature-dependent thermal conductivity of solid eicosane-based silver nanostructure-enhanced phase change materials for thermal energy storage," *Int. J. Heat Mass Transf.*, vol. 107, pp. 697– 711, 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.ijheatmasstransfer.2016.11.059.
- [89] B. Cárdenas and N. León, "High temperature latent heat thermal energy storage: Phase change materials, design considerations and performance enhancement techniques," *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.*, vol. 27, pp. 724–737, 2013, doi: 10.1016/j.rser.2013.07.028.
- [90] M. Kenisarin and K. Mahkamov, "Solar energy storage using phase change materials," *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.*, vol. 11, no. 9, pp. 1913–1965, 2007, doi: 10.1016/j.rser.2006.05.005.

- [91] J. C. Thermodynamics, D. Wei, S. Han, and X. Shen, "Solid liquid phase equilibria of (n -octadecane with myristic, and palmitic acid) binary mixtures used as phase change materials (PCMs)," J. Chem. Thermodyn., vol. 101, pp. 7–11, 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.jct.2016.05.008.
- [92] S. Zhang, W. Wu, and S. Wang, "Preparation, thermal properties and thermal reliability of a novel mid-temperature composite phase change material for energy conservation," *Energy*, vol. 130, pp. 228–235, 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.energy.2017.04.087.
- [93] P. Gallart-sirvent, M. Mart, C. Barrenche, and F. Cabeza, "non-edible animal fat as phase change materials [†]," pp. 24133–24139, 2017, doi: 10.1039/c7ra03845c.
- [94] A. Faik, A. Gil, J. Rodríguez-aseguinolaza, M. Tello, and B. D. Aguanno, "Zincrich eutectic alloys for high energy density latent heat storage applications," vol. 705, pp. 714–721, 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.jallcom.2017.02.173.
- [95] Z. Ge, F. Ye, H. Cao, G. Leng, Y. Qin, and Y. Ding, "Carbonate-salt-based composite materials for medium- and high-temperature thermal energy storage," *Particuology*, vol. 15, pp. 77–81, 2014, doi: 10.1016/j.partic.2013.09.002.
- [96] S. N. Gunasekara, V. Martin, and J. N. Chiu, "Phase equilibrium in the design of phase change materials for thermal energy storage: State-of-the-art," *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.*, vol. 73, no. January, pp. 558–581, 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.rser.2017.01.108.
- [97] A. Karaipekli, A. Sarı, and A. Biçer, "Thermal regulating performance of gypsum /(C18 – C24) composite phase change material (CPCM) for building energy storage applications," *Appl. Therm. Eng.*, vol. 107, pp. 55–62, 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.applthermaleng.2016.06.160.
- [98] M. M. Kenisarin, "High-temperature phase change materials for thermal energy storage," vol. 14, pp. 955–970, 2010, doi: 10.1016/j.rser.2009.11.011.
- [99] K. Kant, A. Shukla, and A. Sharma, "Ternary mixture of fatty acids as phase change

materials for thermal energy storage applications," *Energy Reports*, vol. 2, pp. 274–279, 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.egyr.2016.10.002.

- [100] H. Ke, "Phase diagrams, eutectic mass ratios and thermal energy storage properties of multiple fatty acid eutectics as novel solid-liquid phase change materials for storage and retrieval of thermal energy," *Appl. Therm. Eng.*, vol. 113, pp. 1319– 1331, 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.applthermaleng.2016.11.158.
- [101] N. Kumar, P. K. S. Rathore, R. K. Sharma, and N. K. Gupta, "Integration of lauric acid/zeolite/graphite as shape stabilized composite phase change material in gypsum for enhanced thermal energy storage in buildings," *Appl. Therm. Eng.*, vol. 224, no. July 2022, p. 120088, 2023, doi: 10.1016/j.applthermaleng.2023.120088.
- [102] Y. Yanping, T. Wenquan, C. Xiaoling, and B. Li, "Theoretic prediction of melting temperature and latent heat for a fatty acid eutectic mixture," *J. Chem. Eng. Data*, vol. 56, no. 6, pp. 2889–2891, 2011, doi: 10.1021/je200057j.
- [103] Y. Yanping, T. Wenquan, C. Xiaoling, and B. Li, "Theoretic Prediction of Melting Temperature and Latent Heat for a Fatty Acid Eutectic Mixture," pp. 2889–2891, 2011.
- [104] X. Huang, G. Alva, L. Liu, and G. Fang, "Solar Energy Materials & Solar Cells Preparation, characterization and thermal properties of fatty acid eutectics / bentonite / expanded graphite composites as novel form – stable thermal energy storage materials," *Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cells*, vol. 166, no. March, pp. 157–166, 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.solmat.2017.03.026.
- [105] Y. Cai *et al.*, "Preparation, morphology and thermal properties of electrospun fatty acid eutectics / polyethylene terephthalate form-stable phase change ultrafine composite fibers for thermal energy storage," *Energy Convers. Manag.*, vol. 64, pp. 245–255, 2012, doi: 10.1016/j.enconman.2012.04.018.
- [106] X. Huang, G. Alva, L. Liu, and G. Fang, "Preparation, characterization and thermal properties of fatty acid eutectics/bentonite/expanded graphite composites as novel

form-stable thermal energy storage materials," *Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cells*, vol. 166, no. August 2016, pp. 157–166, 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.solmat.2017.03.026.

- [107] A. Sari and A. Karaipekli, "Preparation, thermal properties and thermal reliability of palmitic acid/expanded graphite composite as form-stable PCM for thermal energy storage," *Sol. Energy Mater. Sol. Cells*, vol. 93, no. 5, pp. 571–576, 2009, doi: 10.1016/j.solmat.2008.11.057.
- [108] L. Yan and Z. Gao, "Dissolving of cellulose in PEG/NaOH aqueous solution," *Cellulose*, vol. 15, no. 6, pp. 789–796, 2008, doi: 10.1007/s10570-008-9233-5.
- [109] W. Zhang *et al.*, "Preparation and characterization of capric-palmitic-stearic acid ternary eutectic mixture/expanded vermiculite composites as form-stabilized thermal energy storage materials," *J. Mater. Sci. Technol.*, vol. 34, no. 2, pp. 379– 386, 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.jmst.2017.06.003.
- [110] J. C. Thermodynamics *et al.*, "Thermal analysis and heat capacity study of polyethylene glycol (PEG) phase change materials for thermal energy storage applications," *J. Chem. Thermodyn.*, vol. 128, pp. 259–274, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.jct.2018.08.031.
- [111] M. Mehrali *et al.*, "Preparation and properties of highly conductive palmitic acid / graphene oxide composites as thermal energy storage materials," *Energy*, vol. 58, pp. 628–634, 2013, doi: 10.1016/j.energy.2013.05.050.
- [112] D. Su, Y. Jia, G. Alva, F. Tang, and G. Fang, "Preparation and thermal properties of n-octadecane/stearic acid eutectic mixtures with hexagonal boron nitride as phase change materials for thermal energy storage," *Energy Build.*, vol. 131, pp. 35–41, 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.enbuild.2016.09.022.
- [113] M. Aamer, Y. Yang, L. Li, M. Bevilacqua, and Y. Chen, "Preparation and thermophysical characterisation analysis of potential nano-phase transition materials for thermal energy storage applications," *J. Mol. Liq.*, vol. 376, p. 121464, 2023, doi: 10.1016/j.molliq.2023.121464.

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

Title of Paper: Development and Thermal Analysis of Fatty Acids/PEG Based Binary

Eutectic Phase Change Materials for Low Temperature Applications

Name of Journal: Polymer

Current Status: Under Review

← Submissions Being Processed for Author

| Action 🗖 🛛 🐼 | Manuscript Number ▲ | Title 🔺 | Initial Date Submitted | Status Date | Current Status |
|---|---------------------------|--|------------------------------|--------------------|-------------------|
| View Submission View Reference Checking Results Send E-mail | POLYMER- 24-2695 | Development and Thermal Analysis of Fatty Acid/PEG based Binary Eutectic Phase Change Materials for Low Temperature Applications | Aug 26, 2024 | Nov 24. 2024 | Under Review |